

Sustainable economic policy and well-being: The relationship between adjusted net savings and subjective well-being

Mubashir Qasim and Arthur Grimes **Motu Working Paper 18-06 Motu Economic and Public Policy Research** May 2018

Document information

Author contact details Mubashir Qasim University of Waikato mubashir@iuj.ac.jp

Arthur Grimes Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, and Victoria University of Wellington arthur.grimes@motu.org.nz

Acknowledgements

This research was funded through Marsden Fund grant MEP1201 from the Royal Society of New Zealand for which we are appreciative. We extend thanks to Professor Les Oxley for his continuous support through all stages of this project.

Motu Economic and Public Policy Research

PO Box 24390	info@motu.org.nz	+64 4 9394250
TA7 - 11:		

Wellington www.motu.org.nz

New Zealand

© 2018 Motu Economic and Public Policy Research Trust and the authors. Short extracts, not exceeding two paragraphs, may be quoted provided clear attribution is given. Motu Working Papers are research materials circulated by their authors for purposes of information and discussion. They have not necessarily undergone formal peer review or editorial treatment. ISSN 1176-2667 (Print), ISSN 1177-9047 (Online).

Abstract

We analyse the relationship between subjective wellbeing (SWB) and the World Bank's measure of a country's economic sustainability, adjusted net savings (ANS). We model SWB at individual level and at aggregated group level as a function of past ANS levels, after controlling for a country's initial levels of SWB. The empirical models utilise World Values Surveys (WVS) data for self-reported life-satisfaction (our proxy for SWB). Our results show that ANS is negatively associated with future SWB outcomes over relatively short timespans (10-15 years) but this relationship is neutralised, or even reversed, for a longer timespan (20 years). The results demonstrate an important challenge in political economy. Governments that choose to save less in the short term may be able to spend more on the well-being of the current generation (i.e. current voters) but they diminish the reserves available to improve future generations' wellbeing. At a more technical level, our results reinforce the concept that ANS is a useful sustainability indicator for infinite (or at least very long) time horizons, but it is not a good indicator of well-being developments over short time horizons.

JEL codes D91, H75, Q01, Q56, R23

Keywords Adjusted net savings, subjective wellbeing, intergenerational sustainability

Summary haiku Wellbeing versus Sustainable policies: Temporal trade-offs

Table of Contents

1	Intro	oduction	6
2	Back	rground	7
	2.1	What is Adjusted Net Savings?	7
	2.2	What is subjective well-being?	8
	2.3	Possible relationships between ANS and SWB	11
	2.4	Components of ANS and SWB	15
	2.5	Hypothesis	20
3	Meth	nods	20
4	Data	l	22
	4.1	SWB and personal controls	22
	4.2	ANS and other country level variables	24
	4.3	Handling missing values	25
	4.4	Summary Information	25
5	Resu	Ilts and discussion	26
6	Conc	clusion	37
7	Refe	rences	39
Арј	pendix		44
	Data	appendix	46
	Data	sources:	50
Rec	ent M	otu Working Papers	68

Tables and Figures

Table 1: Possible model specifications (each controlling for other variables)	11
Table 2: Key studies including well-being and ANS or its individual components (recent to older)	13
Table 3: Summary of related SWB literature	17
Table 4: Composition of data groups	24
Table 5: Coefficients of ANS variables	27
Table 6: Group 1 (Wave 2 and 4)	30
Table 7: Group 2 (Wave 2 and 5)	31
Table 8: Group 3 (Wave 2 and 6)	32
Table 2: Group 4 (Wave 4 and 6)	33
Table 10: Group 1 (Wave 2 and 4)	34
Table 11: Group 3 (Wave 2 and 6)	35
Table 12: Group 2 (Wave 2 and 5)	36
Table 13: Group 4 (Wave 4 and 6)	37
Appendix Table A. SWB and personal controls	46
Appendix Table B: Adjusted Net Savings and macro controls	49
Appendix Table C: Adjusted Net Savings and macro controls dataset	53
Appendix Table D: Summary stats WVS data	55
Appendix Table E: Pseudo-panel data summary	56
Appendix Table F. Panel model results	58
Appendix Table G: Ordered logit model results	64
Figure 1: Trends of ANS excluding PM as % GNI of countries included in the analysis	29
Appendix Figure 1: Distribution of SWB by income level in each group	51

Appendix Figure 2: Distribution of SWB by real (ppp-adjusted) GNI per capita

52

1 Introduction

We examine the relationship between the individual well-being of citizens and the sustainability of economic policies at the national level. In doing so, we highlight a difficult trade-off that governments must make between running sustainable economic policies and raising the more immediate welfare of their citizens. This trade-off helps to explain why many governments fail to adopt sustainable economic policies even though by doing so they would improve the wellbeing of future generations.

The World Bank's adjusted net savings (ANS) series has been widely adopted as a comprehensive indicator to measure sustainability over the long-run (Arrow et al., 2012, Ferreira & Vincent, 2005, Greasley et al., 2014, 2016, Hanley, Dupuy, & McLaughlin, 2015)¹. Starting with Ferreira, Hamilton, & Vincent (2008), many researchers have applied ANS as a predictor of aggregate objective well-being. However, far less attention has been given to testing the relationship between ANS and subjective well-being at individual level. The present paper aims to fill this gap by examining the relationship between ANS and life-satisfaction² which is a commonly used proxy of subjective well-being (SWB). To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to test whether ANS helps to predict developments in life-satisfaction at individual level.

We explore the relationship between individual level SWB and their country's ANS using both ordinary least squares (OLS) and ordered logit regression models. We also explore the relationship between aggregated group level SWB and ANS using pseudo-panel OLS models created by aggregating data into several groups defined by various age and sex combinations.

We find that initial levels of ANS for a country are *negatively* associated with the future SWB of its inhabitants over relatively short time horizons e.g. up to 15 years; and the link is highly significant. This relationship, however, turns *positive* and, for the cross-sectional OLS estimates, significant as the time horizon becomes longer. A negative relationship between ANS and SWB in the shorter periods is consistent with countries that have high (low) initial levels of national savings tending to spend less (more) on the welfare of the current generation. Over longer time periods, the investment in future generations exhibited by countries with high

¹ ANS is also referred to as genuine savings (GS), comprehensive investment (CI), comprehensive savings (CS) or inclusive wealth (IW) in the literature. ANS has been developed in many ways in terms of time horizon, model specification and its components. For example, it has been expanded over very long time-horizons by Blum, McLaughlin, & Hanley (2013), Greasley et al. (2014) and Hanley et al. (2016) and they refer it as genuine savings (GS). Qasim, Oxley, & McLaughlin (2017) expanded ANS by incorporating forestry and expanding time-horizon for New Zealand and also call it GS. Greasley et al. (2016) has expanded ANS model by adjusting it for minerals and TFP for Australia and they call it comprehensive investment (CI). Similarly, it has been referred to as comprehensive wealth in (Ferreira, Hamilton, & Vincent, 2008). In this paper, all these terms are used interchangeably for World Bank's ANS.

² The terms life-satisfaction and SWB have been used synonymously in well-being literature and we will also use these terms interchangeably in this paper.

levels of ANS can be expected to raise future levels of SWB as resources are set aside for future generations. This is consistent with the positive relationship between ANS and future SWB over our longest timespan. One reason that the relationship between ANS and SWB is positive only for the longest timespan in our results is likely to be due to the fact that ANS is conceptually a tool to measure sustainability over infinite time horizons (Blum, McLaughlin, & Hanley, 2013, Greasley et al., 2014). Our results are consistent with this relationship becoming significantly positive over longer durations but at the expense of immediate SWB outcomes.

To minimize the risk of omitted variable bias, we control for personal variables which have been shown to be linked with SWB such as age, sex, income, marital status, employment status and education (collected in World Values Surveys face-to-face interviews) as well as macroeconomic variables such as real gross national income (GNI) per capita, unemployment rate and inflation rate as suggested by a number of SWB studies (Bonini, 2008, Engelbrecht, 2009, Gnègnè, 2009, Grimes et al., 2016, R. Di Tella, MacCulloch, & Oswald, 2001).

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows: section 2 describes ANS and SWB in detail and reviews the relevant theory. Section 3 explains the specifications of the empirical models with a detailed description of variables. Section 4 covers the process of collecting data from several sources and explains how data is processed. In section 5, we present the results from the empirical models with a detailed discussion of research findings. In the final section, conclusions are drawn with a re-enforcement of key findings.

2 Background

2.1 What is Adjusted Net Savings?

ANS is an indicator to measure sustainable development at the macro-level over the long-run (Arrow et al., 2012, Blum, Ducoing, & McLaughin, 2017, Gnègnè, 2009, Greasley et al., 2014, Hamilton & Clemens, 1999, Pezzey, 2004). ANS was first introduced by Pearce & Atkinson (1993) as an indicator of "weak sustainability"³ based on the reformation of the Hartwick Rule (Hartwick, 1977, 1990). According to the Hartwick Rule income from the exploitation of nonrenewable resources should be reinvested in renewable resources in order to maintain total wealth and to achieve non-declining well-being over time. This rule emerged from the Hicksian definition of income as being the maximum amount of consumption in one period that does not

³ The concept of weak sustainability (WS) is rooted in the argument that natural capital and produced capital are similar and infinitely substitutable. This notion of WS emerged in the 1970s (Dietz & Neumayer (2007)) when neoclassical models of economic growth were extended to account for non-renewable natural capital as a factor of production (Dasgupta & Heal, 1974, Hartwick, 1977, Solow, 1974). These aggregate economic growth models account for the optimal use of income produced from the non-renewable resource extraction to establish a rule on how much of it to consume and how much should be reinvested in produced capital for future consumption.

compromise the ability to afford the same level of consumption in the following period (Hicks, 1946).

Pearce and Atkinson (D. W. Pearce & Atkinson, 1993, W. D. Pearce, Markandya, & Barbier, 1989) defined a sustainable economy as one which saves more than the combined depreciation of its stocks of natural capital and produced capital. Whenever ANS takes negative values, it indicates an unsustainable development path. Similarly, according to (Hamilton & Atkinson, 2006), if the total wealth (i.e. sum of all types of capital stocks i.e. human capital, produced capital and natural capital) is related to social welfare, then sustainability necessarily involves maintaining total wealth. In other words, a non-declining level of per capita total wealth has to be maintained intergenerationally to realise sustainability (Dasgupta & Mäler, 2001).

ANS is calculated by the World Bank as net national savings plus education expenditure, and minus energy depletion, mineral depletion, net forest depletion, and carbon dioxide and particulate matter (PM) emissions damage. The World Bank has been publishing ANS estimates for all countries for which these data are available starting from 1970. A detailed description of the components of ANS and how it is calculated is provided in appendix A1.

2.2 What is subjective well-being?

Well-being results from a set of factors that are required for a flourishing life. Well-being may be understood subjectively or via a range of observed (objective) social indicators. The definition of well-being varies across people, groups and disciplines (Galloway et al., 2006, Higgins, 1997, Roberts et al., 2015). For instance, Huppert, Baylis, & Keverne (2004), on page 1331, define well-being as

"a positive and sustainable state that allows individuals, groups or nations to thrive and flourish". According to Defra (2009), on page 119, well-being "is understood to be a positive physical, social and mental state; it is not just the absence of pain, discomfort and incapacity. It requires that basic needs are met, that individuals have a sense of purpose, that they feel able to achieve important personal goals and participate in society. It is enhanced by conditions that include supportive personal relationships, strong and inclusive communities, good health, financial and personal security, rewarding employment, and a healthy and attractive environment."

There are several concepts of well-being which are categorised into two broader categories, objective well-being and subjective well-being (SWB). The former broadly deals with material measures of well-being (such as income, longevity, etc.) and the latter focuses on people's self-reported happiness and satisfaction of life (Cummins, 2012, Gleisner, Llewellyn-Fowler, & McAlister, 2011, MacKerron, 2012, Roberts et al., 2015, Waldron, 2010).

There is a range of contributors to well-being discussed in different disciplines. For instance, economics traditionally understands well-being as an outcome of utility maximization subject to constraints. Hence a person with higher income can have more goods and services

leading to higher levels of satisfaction (Green, 2013, Jackson, Jager, & Stagl, 2004, MacKerron, 2012). This approach implies that the relationship of happiness (i.e. utility) to income exhibits diminishing returns and several papers have confirmed this relationship (Cummins, 2012, Dodds, 1997, Easterlin et al., 2010, Frey & Stutzer, 2002, J. F. Helliwell, 2003, Jackson, Jager, & Stagl, 2004, Schwartz et al., 2002, Veenhoven, 1995). In a recent New Zealand focused study, Sengupta et al. (2012) found the same relationship for New Zealanders. Their key finding was that there was a robust relationship between income and happiness for annual incomes from 10,000 NZD to 30,000 NZD. This relationship becomes less responsive and tends to plateau beyond an average annual income of 65,000 NZD, while increases in income beyond 125,000 NZD had an insignificant incremental effect on happiness.

Subjective well-being studies examine the subjective feeling of the subject regarding her happiness, unhappiness, and satisfaction with life through different survey questions (Dodds, 1997, Frey & Stutzer, 2002, Jamison, 2008, Schwartz et al., 2002, Waldron, 2010). The Gallup Poll⁴, Eurobarometer Surveys⁵, European Values Surveys (EVS)⁶, General Social Surveys (GSS)⁷, and World Values Surveys (WVS)⁸ are examples of such surveys conducted internationally.

Happiness and life-satisfaction have sometimes been used interchangeably in the literature; however there is a clear distinction between them. According to Diener et al. (2010), people tend to correlate life-satisfaction with material prosperity when they answer how satisfied they are with their lives whereas they tend to correlate happiness with social prosperity once they have all their basic needs met. Most studies in the economics literature concentrate on life-satisfaction rather than on (shorter term) happiness. By contrast, studies in psychology tend to concentrate more on the attainment/presence of happiness or avoidance/absence of pain; and/or on the eudaimonic approach to well-being, which defines well-being in term of how a person is functioning in her life (Deci & Ryan, 2008, J. Helliwell, Layard, & Sachs, 2012, Konow & Earley, 2006, Ryan & Deci, 2001).

2.2.1 Factors affecting well-being

The social context in which well-being is defined, referenced, perceived, or applied has significant impact on the extent and interpretation of well-being (Diener, Lucas, & Oishi, 2002). What is considered desirable varies from person to person, society to society and religion to religion. It may also vary with age, social status, sexual orientation, marital status and so on within the same society. One focus of empirical research on individual well-being has been identifying the determinants of happiness among various population groups. This research

6 http://www.europeanvaluesstudy.eu/

⁴ http://www.well-beingindex.com/

⁵ http://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion/index.cfm

⁷ http://www.norc.org/Research/Projects/Pages/general-social-survey.aspx

⁸ http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/wvs.jsp

shows a considerable degree of consensus across survey locations, on key determinants of happiness which include age, sex, cultural affiliations, happiness of relatives and friends, strengths of social network, and marital status (Brown & Tierney, 2009, Frey & Stutzer, 2002, Gross et al., 1997).

A number of studies including Dengah (2014) and Brown & Tierney (2009) also find that religiosity demonstrates strong correlation with well-being and happiness particularly among elderly people. Brown & Tierney (2009), for instance, argue that religion has greater impact on the SWB of men than that of women. In faith based communities, people provide support to each other in the face of vulnerabilities so religious people tend to rebound from divorce, illness, unemployment etc.; religion may also foster higher expected utility from a belief in the hereafter (Azzi & Ehrenberg, 1975, Ellison, Gay, & Glass, 1989, Ellison, 1991).

Well-being research from social psychology analyses numerous factors that may explain why societies differ in terms of well-being. A culture shapes personality in a number of ways which influence an individual's realization of well-being (Tiberius, 2004). Other key factors responsible for shaping personality are wealth and self-serving biases⁹ such as self-assessment, self-enhancement, self-criticism etc. (Diener, Oishi, & Lucas, 2003). Wealthier nations score higher on human rights, equality, justice, democratic governance etc. implying a positive relationship between well-being and these aspects of human rights (Biswas-Diener & Diener, 2001, Diener, Oishi, & Lucas, 2003).

Strength of social networks is also seen as a determinant of well-being which may vary across groups (Ellison, Gay, & Glass, 1989, J. F. Helliwell & Putnam, 2004, Kettner, Köppl, & Stagl, 2012). However, various type of social networks may have different correlations with wellbeing. For instance, Helliwell & Putnam (2004) found a robust and independent relationship between social capital and SWB through family ties, relationship with neighbours, friends and relatives etc. However, no significant correlation has been proven between ethnic homogeneity in an internet based friendship network (e.g. facebook) and SWB (Seder & Oishi, 2009).

Similarly, ethnic diversity is believed to affect well-being by influencing people's preferences and behaviours. In America, for example, housing prices in a neighbourhood with a more homogeneous minority population are higher than in more diverse neighbourhoods (Li, 2014). Ethnic diversity is also found to impact behaviours in developing countries. In sub-Saharan Africa, public good provisioning such as funding for primary education is strongly

⁹ Self-serving biases are deviations from reality in which respondents tend to report overestimated or underestimated facts. For example, researchers have found that East Asians are weaker in self-enhancement (a self-serving bias in which one rates herself better compared to how she rates others) compared to Americans, whereas, they tend to have high self-criticism tendencies (Heine, Takata, & Lehman, 2000, Heine et al., 1999). Oishi & Diener (2003) found that European Americans tend to overestimate the number of anagrams they solved last week whereas, Asian American underestimate this number. Dockery (2010) argues that indigenous culture should be viewed as a part of well-being enhancement and not as part of a problem.

associated with ethnicity, while public schools in Kenya that have high ethnic diversity receive much lower funding than largely homogenous schools (Miguel & Gugerty, 2005).

In the empirical models of our study, we control for both personal and country level factors to study well-being. Personal level variables include age, sex, marital status, employment status, income scale and education levels. Country level variables include internationally comparable GNI per capita in terms of purchasing power parity (PPP), inflation rate and unemployment rate as these variables are suggested to have strong relationships with SWB (Gnègnè, 2009, Grimes et al., 2016, Novak & Pahor, 2017, R. Di Tella, MacCulloch, & Oswald, 2001, Welsch & Kühling, 2016).

2.3 **Possible relationships between ANS and SWB**

The relationship between the individual components of ANS such as natural capital, human capital, produced capital and its rate of return (measured by income per capita) and SWB has been extensively studied in the literature. The predictive power of ANS to explain changes in national level well-being – but not individual level well-being – has also been examined.

Well-being may be analysed at both individual and aggregate levels (e.g. regional or national aggregates) as an outcome of individual traits¹⁰ and a range of national level indicators¹¹. We can postulate eight possible combinations of relationship between ANS and SWB (or other measures of well-being) as summarized in Table 1 (where Δ signifies a change in that variable across time).

Dependent variable / Independent	Individual level	Aggregate level
variable(s)		
SWB / ANS	Х	Х
SWB / AANS	Х	Х
ΔSWB / ANS	Х	Х
ΔSWB / ΔANS	Х	Х

Table 1: Possible model specifications (each controlling for other variables)

From Table 1, the relationship between SWB and ANS can be modelled at individual or country level, with one or both variables expressed either in levels or changes. A summary of existing literature relevant to this subject in terms of the above combinations is presented in Table 2.

¹⁰ Key individual traits collected in WVS or EVS include age, sex, education level, employment status, marital status, income level, religious affiliation etc.

¹¹ National level indicators including both single indicators (e.g. GDP, GNP etc.) and composite indicators (such as HDI, GS, ANS etc.). For details see Qasim (2017).

Examining Table 2, we observe two groups of studies. First, ANS (or its variants i.e. GS, CI, CW) has been used as a predictor of changes in future well-being at national level (Greasley et al. (2016), Hanley et al. (2016), Greasley et al. (2014), Blum, McLaughlin, & Hanley (2013), Gnègnè (2009)). Ferreira, Hamilton, & Vincent (2008) have used GS to predict changes in future real consumption per capita which has been used as a proxy for national level well-being.

Second, all SWB studies for individual or aggregate country level models are formulated using both the dependent variables and the explanatory variables at levels (rather than changes)¹². To the best of our knowledge, none of the papers has applied ANS or any of its variants to predict future individual level SWB while controlling also for past levels of SWB. However, the literature on cultural and other determinants of SWB show that it is vital to control for SWB levels across different countries and cultures, so studies that omit this countryspecific aspect are likely to be flawed. The present paper is the first to fill this gap.

¹² Using current variables at levels may induce the risk of endogeneity in the results. This problem is elaborated further in the methodology part together with our mitigation strategy.

Reference	Dependent variable(s)	Independent variable(s) in one or more models	Type of study LHS vs RHS	Scope of study
Novak & Pahor (2017)	SWB	GNI per capita, Unemployment rate, inflation, relative income, unemployment, gender, marital status, number of children, health, education, age, immigrant, democracy	Levels – Levels	Individual level
Greasley et al. (2016)	Ρνδς	Net national investment, Green investment, comprehensive investment (GS, ANS), Cl adjusted for minerals, CI adjusted for TFP	Changes – Levels	Country level
Grimes et al. (2016)	SWB	Fiscal variables, personal controls	Levels – Levels*	Individual level
Hanley et al. (2016)	PVΔC	GS, GS adjusted for TFP	Changes – Levels	Country level
Grimes & Reinhardt (2015)	SWB	Respondent income, mean income of others, relative gross national disposable income	Levels – Levels*	Country level
Greasley et al. (2014)	Ρνδς, Ρνδω	GS and its individual components	Changes – Levels	Country level
Blum, McLaughlin, & Hanley (2013)	Ρνδς	GS and its individual components	Changes – Levels	Country level
Engelbrecht (2012)	SWB	Total wealth per capita, GNI per capita, natural capital per capita, produced capital, intangible capital	Levels – Levels	Country level
Verme (2011)	SWB	income, income inequality, relative income, country's wealth, age, sex, education, trust, work, politics, religion	Levels – Levels	Individual level
Pittau, Zelli, & Gelman (2010)	SWB	personal income, national income, age, sex, education, employment, marital status	Levels – Levels	Country level
Engelbrecht (2009)	LS, Happiness, SWB Index	Natural capital per capita, GNI per capita, Trust variable, Gini coefficient, Unemployment, inflation	Levels – Levels	Country level
Gnègnè (2009)	ΔHDI ΔIMR	ANS per capita, NNS per capita, ANS_E, ANS_P, ANS EP, Initial income, Initial life expectancy, Initial school, Public consumption, Trade, Gastil index	Changes – Levels	Country level
Bonini (2008)	LS	HDI, ESI, GDP per capita, Age, education, sex	Levels – Levels	Individual level
Ferreira, Hamilton, & Vincent (2008)	ΡνΔς	Gross savings, Net savings, Green savings, Population adjusted savings, Population growth rate Total population	Changes – Levels	Country level
Vemuri & Costanza (2006)	LS/SWB	HDI, ESP per squared km index, Press freedom	Levels – Levels	Country level

Table 2: Key studies including well-being and ANS or its individual components (recent to older)

Reference	Dependent variable(s)	Independent variable(s) in one or more models	Type of study LHS vs RHS	Scope of study
Leigh & Wolfers	SWB,	HDI, GDP per capita	Levels – Levels	Country level
(2006)	Happiness			
Schyns (2002)	SWB	income at low medium and high levels, national income	Levels – Levels	Country level

Notes: * Individual level study with cross-sectional country fixed effects added. GS and CI: Genuine savings and comprehensive investment (these are alternative terms for ANS). TFP: Total factor productivity. PVΔC: Present values (PV) of changes in per capita consumption in real-terms. PVΔW: PV of changes in real wages per capita. PVΔC and PVΔW are used as a proxy for aggregate objective well-being. ΔHDI: Change in human development index. ΔIMR: Change in infant mortality rate. ANS_P: ANS calculated without CO2 damage. ANS_E: ANS calculated without education expenditure. ANS_EP: ANS calculated without CO2 damage and education expenditure. ESI: Environmental sustainability index. GNI: Gross national income. NNS: Net national savings. LS: Life-satisfaction from the WVS. This is referred to as SWB in our paper. ESP: Ecosystem services product.

2.4 Components of ANS and SWB

Research on the relationship between particular components of ANS and SWB has been conducted since the early 1970s (Land & Michalos, 2017). This includes work on the relationship between income and happiness (Easterlin, 1974, 2005, Easterlin et al., 2010, R. D. Tella & MacCulloch, 2008), Grimes & Reinhardt (2015), Verme (2011), Schyns (2002) and Pittau, Zelli, & Gelman (2010)). Many of these studies find that if all residents within a country have the same proportionate increase in income then no-one feels better-off since all relativities remain unchanged. This is known as the Easterlin Paradox. However, other income and happiness studies such as Leigh & Wolfers (2006) and Stevenson & Wolfers (2008) have found that the Easterlin Paradox does not exist and an increase in income does result in higher lifesatisfaction.

Significant work has been undertaken to explain SWB using composite indicators including natural capital, produced capital and human capital components. For instance, Leigh & Wolfers (2006) analyzed the relationship between the Human Development Index (HDI) and individual happiness using a WVS dataset of 115,000 individuals from 32 countries. Their results suggested that, in general, people from countries with high HDI are happier. In another study on the same relationship, Blanchflower & Oswald (2005) have shown a few exceptional countries, such as Australia, that have high HDI but lower average happiness scores which they call an HDI happiness paradox. Vemuri & Costanza (2006) also used HDI (as a proxy for human capital and produced capital) with an index for ecosystem services per square kilometer (as a proxy for natural capital) in their model for 57 countries to explain the relationship between SWB (using WVS data) and various types of capitals (e.g. human capital, produced capital, natural capital). Their results suggested that combinations of these capitals can explain 72% of the variation in individuals' life-satisfaction. Engelbrecht (2009) also found a positive and significant relationship between natural capital and the levels of individual life-satisfaction. However these latter studies use levels of each of the series which may yield distorted conclusions.

Bonini (2008) analyses the variation in the individual life-satisfaction of 76,038 individuals from 63 countries using a WVS dataset. A key finding of this study is that individual life-satisfaction differs significantly across countries and regions and that slope coefficients also differ across countries; therefore, universal development indicators may not adequately cover the policies required to address well-being across countries. Grimes et al. (2016) explored the association between fiscal policies and SWB using data for over 170,000 individuals from 35 countries and find that distortionary taxes (e.g. income tax) are positively associated with SWB compared to non-distortionary taxes (e.g. sales tax).

Finally, ANS itself has been widely adopted as a predictor of aggregate objective wellbeing. For example, the changes in the discounted value of real consumption per capita as a proxy for aggregate objective well-being has been explained using GS/ANS/CI/IW by (Blum, McLaughlin, & Hanley, 2013, Ferreira, Hamilton, & Vincent, 2008, Greasley et al., 2016, Hanley et al., 2016). Similarly, Greasley et al. (2014) took real wages per capita as a proxy for objective well-being to study the explanatory power of GS. A summary of other relevant literature is presented in Table 3.

Table 3: Summary	of related	SWB	literature
------------------	------------	-----	------------

Title/Reference	Data	Study type/design	Models
Novak & Pahor (2017)	WVS survey 2005 – 2009	Individual level study	Multilevel
Using a multilevel modelling approach to explain the influence of	Data for 49 countries from	Cross-sectional data	modelling
economic development on the subjective well-being of individuals	From the World Bank Development		
	Indicators		
Gnègnè (2009)	Data for 36 Countries	Country level study	Regression
Adjusted net saving and welfare change	From the World Bank	Panel data	models
	HDI data from UNDP	Variables at difference	
Bonini (2008)	WVS 1999 – 2003	Individual level study	Multilevel
Cross-National Variation in Individual Life-satisfaction: Effects of National	76,038 Adults	Cross-sectional data	modelling
Wealth, Human Development, and Environmental Conditions	63 countries*	Variables at levels	
	HDI from UNDP 2000		
	ESI from CIESIN 2001		
Vemuri & Costanza (2006)	WVS 1990 – 1995	Country level study	Regression
The role of human, social, built, and natural capital in explaining life-	57 countries	Cross-sectional data	models
satisfaction at the country level: Toward a National Well-Being Index	Proxies for data on 4 types of capitals	Variables at levels	
(NWI)	from UNDP for 171 countries		
	Freedom house press (1999)		
Ferreira, Hamilton, & Vincent (2008)	1970 - 1982	Country level study	Regression
Comprehensive Wealth and Future Consumption: Accounting for	Data for 64 Countries	Panel data	models
Population Growth	From the World Bank Development	Country fixed effect	
	Indicators		
Engelbrecht (2009)	WVS 2005	Country level study	Regression
Natural Capital, SWB, and the New Welfare Economics of Sustainability:	58 countries	Cross-sectional data	models
Some Evidence from Cross-Country Regressions	Natural capital data from the World	Variables at levels	
	Bank's Millennium Capital Assessment		
Grimes et al. (2016)	35 countries	Individual level study	Regression
Subjective Wellbeing Impacts of National and Subnational Fiscal Policies	130 years	Panel data	models
	170,000 individuals' SW	Country fixed effect	
	IMF Govt. Financial Statistics 2014	Time fixed effect	
	with OECD data to fill missing data		
	WVS 2014		

Title/Reference	Data	Study type/design	Models
Grimes & Reinhardt (2015) Relative Income and Subjective Wellbeing: Intra-national and Inter- national Comparisons by Settlement and Country Type	WVS 1990 – 2009 27 countries 16 OECD and 11 others 68 cross-sections 78,058 individuals	Country level study Panel data Country fixed effect Time fixed effect	Regression models
Verme (2011) Life-satisfaction and Income Inequality	WVS 1981 & 2004 267,870 individuals 1,349 regions 84 countries IMF: GDP, PPP UNU–WIDER: inequality	Individual level study Panel data Country fixed effect	Regression models
Leigh & Wolfers (2006) Happiness and the Human Development Index: Australia Is Not a Paradox	WVS 2005 78 countries 115,000 individuals Happiness ISSP 2002 32 countries 50,000 individuals HDI	Country level study Cross-sectional data Variables at levels	Regression models
Engelbrecht (2012) Some empirics of the bivariate relationship between average SWB and the sustainable wealth of nations	WVS 1990 – 2002 World Bank 2006	Country level study Cross-sectional data Variables at levels	Regression models
Schyns (2002) Wealth of Nations, Individual Income and Life-satisfaction In 42 Countries: A Multilevel Approach	WVS 1990 42 countries 50,046 individuals	Both individual and country level study Panel data Country fixed effect	Multilevel OLS
Pittau, Zelli, & Gelman (2010) Economic Disparities and Life-satisfaction in European Regions	1970 – 2002 Eurobarometer surveys 15 EU countries 1.1 million respondents	Both individual and country level study Panel data Country/regions fixed effect	Multilevel Models
Greasley et al. (2016) Australia: A land of missed opportunities?	1870 – 2011 for Australia	Country level study Single country study Time-series data Dependent variable as change in value	Regression models

Title/Reference	Data	Study type/design	Models
Hanley et al. (2016)	1870 – 2008 for Britain, USA, Germany	Country level study	Regression
Empirical testing of Genuine Savings as an indicator of weak		three country study	models
sustainability: a three-country analysis of long-run trends.		Time-series data	
		Dependent variable as	
		change in value	
Greasley et al. (2014)	Britain	Country level study	Regression
Testing genuine savings as a forward-looking indicator of future well-	1760 - 2000	Single country study	models
being over the (very) long-run		Time-series data	
		Dependent variable as	
		change in value	
Blum, McLaughlin, & Hanley (2013)	Germany	Country level study	Regression
Genuine savings and future well-being in Germany, 1850-2000		Single country study	models
		Time-series data	
		Dependent variable as	
		change in value	

To the best of our knowledge, ANS has not been applied to study changes in SWB of individuals across countries. Consistent with the recommendations of Stiglitz, Sen, & Fitoussi (2010) we consider it important to focus on individual (or household) well-being, rather than on aggregate measures of well-being. For methodological reasons, we also consider it important to focus on changes in well-being (rather than on levels). The present work, which examines the effects of a country's ANS on changes in its residents' SWB, aims to fill these gaps.

2.5 Hypothesis

Consistent with studies that analyse the aggregate relationship between ANS and certain wellbeing indicators, we hypothesize that countries with higher levels of ANS perform better, in the long-run, in terms of changes in SWB of their inhabitants. The reason underlying this hypothesis is that the countries which save more (in a comprehensive sense) are better able to have resources available, in the long term, to promote the well-being of future citizens. We aim to test this hypothesis using three different regression-based models discussed in the following section.

3 Methods

The main aim of this paper is to test whether ANS helps to predict future SWB outcomes. In order to isolate this effect, we control for a set of variables which have been shown in the previous literature to have high explanatory power for SWB. Equation (1) illustrates a baseline model. SWB for individual *i* in country *c* at time *t* is expressed as a function of *M*, a vector of macro-controls, *X*, a vector of personal controls, *ANS*, wave (time) fixed effects λ_w , and country fixed effects λ_c :

$$SWB_{i,c,t} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 M_{c,t} + \beta_2 X_{i,t} + \beta_3 ANS_{c,t} + \lambda_w + \lambda_c + \epsilon_{i,c,t}$$
(1)

where:

SWB subjective well-being

- *i* individual
- c country
- t time
- *M* vector of macro controls
- *X* vector of personal controls
- ANS adjusted net savings
- λ_c country fixed effect
- λ_w time (wave) fixed effect

One potential problem with equation (1) is that this model may be subject to an endogeneity problem due to simultaneity (or omitted variables). For example, ANS at any given time for a country potentially has a strong relationship with its current level of income, and thence its current SWB. For this reason, while this model is our own starting point, we do not attempt to interpret its (likely biased) results. (For completeness, we report its results in Appendix Table F6) In model (2) we attempt to mitigate the endogeneity problem by modifying model (1) utilising the timing of our variables. We will focus on the results of this model in the later sections.

$$SWB_{i,c,t1} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 M_{c,t0} + \beta_2 X_{i,t1} + \beta_3 ANS_{c,t0} + \beta_4 SWB_{c,t0} + \epsilon_{i,c,t1}$$
(2)

Equation (2) represents a cross-sectional model (and hence excludes country and wave fixed effects) in which *t*1 is the *'end-wave'* and *t*0 is the *'initial-wave'* for a particular country group. For example, (as discussed in section 4) for Group 1 countries, *t*1 is wave 4 and *t*0 is wave 2 of the WVS. Thus, we are regressing individual SWB in wave 4 on personal characteristics of those same individuals in wave 4 and on country variables (M, ANS and aggregate SWB) from wave 2. This model indicates how the initial ANS affects subsequent individual SWB after controlling for initial levels of a country's SWB. The need to control for a country's initial mean level of SWB – which has not been done in the prior SWB studies summarised in Table 2 and Table 3 (other, implicitly, than those that include individual country fixed effects) – is shown to be important in the studies summarised in section 2.2.1. We also estimate the per annum change in SWB aggregated to several age and sex groups in model (3) to conduct a pseudo-panel analysis that links changes in SWB of types of people to the initial SWB of that person type.

$$\frac{\Delta SWB_{gct}}{\#Years} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 SWB_{gct0} + \beta_2 M_{c,t0} + \beta_3 ANS_{ct0} + \lambda_g + \epsilon_{gct}$$
(3)

where, #Years is the length of period (in years) between two waves of WVS for each group, so coefficients can be interpreted as per year effects on SWB changes of the RHS variables, *g* represents group averages.

The following four groups are defined based on age and sex:

- Age-sex group 1 & 2: 15 29 years old male/female
- Age-sex group 3 & 4: 30 44 years old male/female
- Age-sex group 5 & 6: 45 59 years old male/female
- Age-sex group 7 & 8: 60 + years old male/female

We drop any country which does not have any observations for each group in each timeperiod. For example, Brazil does not have any data for individuals over 60 years old in the 2nd wave of WVS, and therefore is dropped from the sample. The number of individuals in each group by country and by wave are summarised in Appendix Table E.

The World Bank provides estimates for two variants of ANS: (1) ANS excluding emission damage from particulate matter (% of GNI)¹³; (2) ANS including emission damage from particulate matter (% of GNI)¹⁴. We estimated all of our models for both of these variants. While SWB is a categorical (ordered) variable, it is common to treat SWB as if it were a cardinal variable and to estimate SWB models using OLS (Ferrer-i-Carbonell & Frijters, 2004, Luttmer, 2005) given that results have been found to be similar when estimating using OLS and ordered logit. Given this tradition, we estimate model (2) using each of OLS and ordered logit. Equation (3) is estimated using OLS.

4 Data

4.1 SWB and personal controls

Self-reported subjected well-being and data on personal controls¹⁵, such as age, sex, marital status, employment status, income level and education were downloaded from WVS website¹⁶ for waves 2,4,5 and 6¹⁷. The surveys are conducted in each country with domestic funding using stratified multistage random sampling, national random sampling or quota sampling methods. All WVS surveys are conducted in the national language with face-to-face interviews (Donnelly & Pop-Eleches, 2012). The SWB question is asked in the local language as:

15 Personal controls include age, sex, marital status, employment status, income level and education; and all WVS questionnaires include this information. The order of questions against which this information is recorded is different in different waves and we adjusted the data accordingly.

Another major challenge in processing WVS data is the use of different scales to record the answer of same questions. For example, the question on marital status is recorded as one of the following responses in wave 2 and wave 6:

7: Divorced, separated or Widow; 10: Living apart while married/cohabitation.

¹³ Adjusted net savings are equal to net national savings plus education expenditure and minus energy depletion, mineral depletion, net forest depletion, and carbon dioxide. This series excludes particulate emissions damage. 14 This series includes carbon dioxide and particulate emissions damage. See A1 for detailed noted on the calculation of ANS.

^{-5:} Missing; Unknown; Inappropriate; -4: Not asked; -3: Not applicable; -2: No answer; -1: Don't know; 1: Married; 2: Living together as married; 3: Divorced; 4: Separate; 5: Widow; 6: Single

The same questions have two additional categories of responses in wave 4 and wave 5 which are:

Such data inconsistencies make the careful re-coding of data imperative prior to conduct any further analysis. Detailed notes on data preparation and re-coding are provided in the Appendix Table A.

¹⁶ http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/WVSContents.jsp last visited on 19/08/2017.

¹⁷ Wave years: Wave 2: 1990-94; Wave 4: 1999-04; Wave 5: 2005-09; Wave 6: 2010-14.

All things considered, how satisfied are you with your life as a whole these days? Using this card on which 1 means you are "completely dissatisfied" and 10 means you are "completely satisfied" where would you put your satisfaction with your life as a whole? (Code one number): Completely dissatisfied 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Completely satisfied.

SWB is tightly distributed across all countries and all groups, with a mean of 6.7, median 7.0 and standard deviation of approximately 2.4. Hence a small change in its value can be economically material. Figure A1 shows the distribution of SWB by income levels by WVS wave in each group. General trends in the data reveal that higher income levels are associated with higher levels of SWB. Further details on the data from WVS are provided in Appendix Table A. The number of individuals surveyed in each wave by country is summarised in Appendix Table D.

WVS data have been criticised for inconsistencies of data categorization for the same variable across different waves. Income distribution, for instance, associated with ten categories are not income deciles, as interpreted by some researchers, and the method to record them also varies across different waves (Donnelly & Pop-Eleches, 2012, Grimes & Reinhardt, 2015, Grimes et al., 2016). In the majority of surveys, respondents are asked to place themselves in one of ten income brackets (e.g. 1 - 1,000, 1,000 - 5,000 etc.) where these income brackets are predetermined by WVS. Donnelly & Pop-Eleches (2012) noted that the documentation for some income brackets for a number of countries were missing. As a result, these brackets do not generate a uniform distribution of income. In other cases, respondents are asked to place themselves on a 1 to 10 income scale, 1 being the lowest and 10 being the highest decile income group. In such cases, most of the people tend to report a central number. For example, 84% of Americans in the 2006 wave reported they are in one of the 5 middle deciles (i.e. 3 - 7) (Grimes et al., 2016). In some cases, respondents are asked to report their actual income which is later translated into a 1 to 10 scale.

Because of these data inconsistencies, we interpret income level as an ordinal variable within each data group (discussed under the following section) i.e. if somebody falls in a higher income level that person is likely to earn more. However, the cardinal relationship between income categories is not known. Since income is a control variable, rather than a direct variable of intent, in this study we do not attempt to interpret the income parameters.

4.2 ANS and other country level variables

Data for the key independent variable ANS and other country level variables i.e. real GNI per capita in PPP, inflation rate, and unemployment rate were downloaded from the World Bank's World Development Indicators Database (WDI). This dataset is provided in Appendix Table C (see data appendix for URL and variable details).

We divided the final dataset into four separate groups for our analysis. Each group includes SWB data from two different waves of WVS for all countries which are covered in both waves and that have ANS data from the World Bank. The composition of these data groups is given in Table 4.

Data group	WVS Waves & no. of respondents	Duration between waves	Countries included
1.	Wave 2: 14,904 respondents Wave 4: 17,733 respondents	approx. 10 years	10 countries: Argentina, Chile, China, India, Mexico, Nigeria, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Turkey
2.	Wave 2: 17,077 respondents Wave 5: 16,831 respondents	approx. 15 years	11 countries: Argentina, Brazil, Chile, China, India, Mexico, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Switzerland, Turkey
3.	Wave 2: 16,674 respondents Wave 6: 21,035 respondents	approx. 20 years	11 countries: Argentina, Brazil, Chile, China, India, Mexico, Nigeria, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Turkey
4.	Wave 4: 33,664 respondents Wave 6: 36,316 respondents	approx. 10 years	21 countries: Algeria, Argentina, Chile, China, Egypt, India, Japan, Jordan, Kyrgyzstan, Mexico, Morocco, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Philippines, Singapore, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Turkey, United States

Table 4: Composition of data group

In our regression models, age is a continuous variable and both age and age squared are included to capture the curvilinear effect of age on SWB. Sex, marital status, employment status, income level and education levels are coded as dummy variables. Reference groups for these variables are males, employed, lowest income step, and no formal education respectively. In the result tables, these variables have the following identity prefixes sex_, ms_, es_, in_, and ed_ respectively. We also included dummies for missing entries for these variables and a dummy for missing age in our estimates.

For the pseudo-panel models, we split the dataset into 8 groups of panel data based on age and sex. The count of observations in each group and in each wave is summarised in Appendix Table E. These groups are defined in section 3. We dropped 107 observations from the final group level dataset where data for age and sex were not available. Brazil was excluded from group 2 and 3 as it does not have any observations for individuals over 60 in WVS wave 2. In the result tables of pseudo-panel models, the 15 – 29 year old female group is the reference group.

4.3 Handling missing values

4.3.1 ANS

A few countries covered in WVS do not have ANS data for the same year from the World Bank. In such a case where a country does not have an ANS estimate for the year it was surveyed for WVS, we used the ANS values from the next or previous year. Any country which does not meet this condition was dropped from the dataset resulting in the following omissions:

- Japan was dropped from group 1, 2 and 3;
- Russia was dropped from group 2 and 3;
- Belarus was dropped from group 3;
- Iraq and Zimbabwe were dropped from group 4;
- Algeria was dropped from group 4.

4.3.2 Unemployment

Unemployment data series start from 1991 for all countries in WDI data. Therefore, we used 1991 values for the following countries which were surveyed in 1990 by WVS. Chile, China, India, Mexico, Nigeria, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Switzerland, Turkey

4.3.3 GNI (PPP)

A GNI series for China was not available from the World Bank Data Bank. It was sourced from UNDP's data website: http://hdr.undp.org/en/data on a consistent basis with the World Bank's data.

4.4 Summary Information

Before estimating our models, we plot the relationship between SWB and income levels recorded in WVS as shown in Figure A2.1. As expected, higher income, on average, is associated with higher levels of SWB across all waves of WVS. However, this relationship appears nonlinear. An increase in income from the lowest step towards the middle step (i.e. from lowest step to step five) results in a larger increase in SWB than beyond that level of income. Similarly, we observe a direct and positive relationship between SWB and real PPP-adjusted GNI per capita in Figure A2.2. These results are intuitive and consistent with the results of many other similar studies such as (Engelbrecht, 2009, 2012). These patterns reinforce the results by Pittau, Zelli, & Gelman (2010) that personal income matters more in poor countries than in rich countries. Summary data descriptive information is included in Appendix Table C to Appendix Table E.

5 Results and discussion

Coefficients on ANS for all four groups in both model (2) and model (3) are summarised in Table 1. Full model 2 results using OLS are summarised in Table 6– Table 9 while the model (3) results are presented in Table 10– Table 13. The full ordered logit results for model 2 are presented in Appendix Table G. In general, the results for the control variables are intuitive and consistent with the results of previous studies. In individual controls, for instance, we observe age exhibiting a non-linear and significant relationship with SWB. In the beginning, age is negatively correlated with SWB and after a certain age, this relationship is reversed. This result confirms the findings of Gross et al. (1997) and Carstensen et al. (2000) that young and older people are happier than mid-aged.

It is a general perception that women might have lower levels of life-satisfaction because they have access to fewer resources and traditionally possessed less power, freedom and status than men (Diener & Diener, 2009). However, many studies have found no or negligible differences between the SWB of men and women (Headey & Wearing, 1992, Herzog, Rodgers, & Woodworth, 1982, Schyns, 2002). Our estimates also show mixed results for sex. Women have positive SWB in the results of group 1 and group 2, but the relationship is insignificant in the results of group 3 and 4. Another interesting finding is that the housewife group is significantly more satisfied than any other group in the employment status category (especially in groups 1 and 4).

Higher levels of both income and education are significantly and positively related to SWB in all four cases of model (2). Similar results have been shown by others (Diener & Biswas-Diener, 2002, 2002, Schyns, 2002). Another consistent finding is that the magnitude of increase in life-satisfaction in response to increases in income exhibits a concave pattern. In other words, an increase in income is associated with higher SWB, however, with diminishing returns. Finally, our results show higher levels of average SWB in the first period is directly and significantly associated with higher life-satisfaction of individuals in the following period in 3 of the 4 models, while it has a negative significant association for group 2. This shows the criticality of including a control for prior SWB in any study of the relationship of another variable of interest (ANS in our case) with SWB; many prior studies have failed to do so.

In terms of macro controls, the relationship between initial ppp-adjusted real GNI per capita and subsequent life-satisfaction is positive and significant. Initial unemployment rates are negatively associated with subsequent SWB across all groups, while the coefficient of initial inflation shows a positive relationship with SWB in all cases except group 1 where the coefficients are not significant¹⁸.

In general, coefficients of macro controls for Model (2) using both OLS (Table 6 – Table 9) and ordered logit models (Appendix Table G) are consistent in terms of signs and significance levels. Each of these macro variables is included to control for prevalent economic conditions across countries, and so we do not attempt to interpret their estimated coefficients. However, as with initial SWB, the significance of the (initial period) macro controls demonstrates the importance of controlling for (prior) country-specific factors when assessing the relationship between ANS and SWB, which has often been overlooked in cross-sectional studies.

Now we turn our focus to Table 5 to interpret the relationship of (future) life-satisfaction to the two variants of initial ANS (i.e. ANS including PM and ANS excluding PM). In both models, we observe that higher initial levels of ANS (in each of its variants) is negatively associated with future SWB over time horizons of 10 - 15 years with this relationship being significantly negative in 15 out of 18 cases. By contrast, the relationship is positive over the longer time horizon (i.e. 20 years in the group 3 results), and are significantly so using the cross-sectional OLS models.

	Group 1 Wave 2 & 4 ≈ 10 years	Group 2 Wave 2 & 5 ≈ 15 years	Group 3 Wave 2 & 6 ≈ 20 years	Group 4 Wave 4 & 6 ≈ 10 years
Model 2: Cross-sectional models (usin	ng OLS)			
ANS inc. PM	-0.03***	-0.04***	0.01***	-0.01***
ANS exc. PM	-0.04***	-0.05***	0.01***	-0.005***
Model 2: Cross-sectional models (usir	ng ordered logit)			
ANS inc. PM	-0.03***	-0.04***	0.001	-0.01***
ANS exc. PM	-0.03***	-0.05***	0.001	-0.01***
Model 3: Pseudo-panel models (OLS)				
ANS inc. PM	-0.005***	-0.001	0.0003	-0.001
ANS exc. PM	-0.01***	-0.001*	0.0003	-0.001

Table 5: Coefficients of ANS variables

Note: *p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01

Before going into further interpretation, it is important to note two key characteristics of ANS: (1) it has been emphasised that ANS is a comprehensive sustainability measure for infinite time horizons (Blum, McLaughlin, & Hanley, 2013, Ferreira, Hamilton, & Vincent, 2008, Ferreira & Vincent, 2005, Greasley & Madsen, 2016, Greasley et al., 2014, Hanley et al., 2016); (2) levels of ANS have been following cyclical patterns in many countries. This is observed for the

¹⁸ R. Di Tella, MacCulloch, & Oswald (2001) finds that inflation has a negative effect on SWB for European countries for the period 1975–1991, whereas the results for US are not clear. Welsch & Kühling (2016) find that lower inflation rates reduced the negative effect of the economic crisis, while Novak & Pahor (2017) has found that inflation rate does not have a significant effect on subjective well-being.

countries shown in Figure 1. It is clear from the trends that countries which started with higher levels of ANS at the time of wave 2 (the initial wave in our models) faced a decline over the following decade before starting to rise again.

Keeping these facts in mind, it is likely that governments of the countries which spend more on the welfare of people in the short-run, have lower national savings rates and have lower initial ANS (Ma & Yi, 2010, Parker, 1999, Schor, 1999, Yang & Jianfeng, 2007). Over short time horizons, these countries may achieve higher life-satisfaction of their citizens as they boost near-term welfare at the expense of building longer-term capital. Over the longer time horizons (i.e., our group 3 with its 20 years' time period), countries that have low initial ANS may subsequently have to cut back on welfare related expenditure in order to rebuild their capital, and this results in lower long-term SWB. This is consistent with the direction of our results across all four groups. In two of our six cases, our group 3 (20 year) results are significantly positive, consistent with the relationship expected from theory. Our other group 3 (longer time horizon) coefficients, while positive, are not significantly different from zero which may reflect the still short time horizon in our data relative to that needed to truly capture the positive wellbeing impacts of higher ANS over the very long-run.



Figure 1: Trends of ANS excluding PM as % GNI of countries included in the analysis

Source: Plotted from the ANS data downloaded from World Bank's WDI database.

	Dependent variable: SWB		
	0	LS	
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM	
	(1)	(2)	
age	-0.08*** (0.01)	-0.08*** (0.01)	
age_squared	0.001*** (0.0001)	0.001*** (0.0001)	
age_na	-1.94*** (0.43)	-1.92*** (0.43)	
sex_Female	0.12*** (0.04)	0.12*** (0.04)	
ms_Divorced	-0.63*** (0.11)	-0.64*** (0.11)	
ms_Single	-0.57*** (0.10)	-0.57*** (0.10)	
ms_Widowed	-0.30*** (0.06)	-0.31*** (0.06)	
ms_Missing	-0.17 (0.47)	-0.17 (0.47)	
es_Unemployed	0.004 (0.09)	-0.0001 (0.09)	
es_Housewife	0.24*** (0.06)	0.24*** (0.06)	
es_Student	-0.27*** (0.06)	-0.26*** (0.06)	
es_Retired	-0.69*** (0.07)	-0.69*** (0.07)	
es_Other	-0.36** (0.15)	-0.36** (0.15)	
es_Missing	-0.09 (0.19)	-0.09 (0.19)	
in_second step	0.07 (0.09)	0.07 (0.09)	
in_Third step	0.26*** (0.09)	0.26*** (0.09)	
in_Fourth step	0.72*** (0.09)	0.72*** (0.09)	
in_Fifth step	1.01*** (0.09)	1.01*** (0.09)	
in_Sixth step	1.28*** (0.10)	1.28*** (0.10)	
in_Seventh step	1.49*** (0.10)	1.48*** (0.10)	
in_Eigth step	1.75*** (0.10)	1.74^{***} (0.10)	
in_Nineth step	1.75*** (0.12)	1.75*** (0.12)	
in_Tenth step	1.84*** (0.13)	1.84*** (0.13)	
in_Missing	1.20*** (0.10)	1.20*** (0.10)	
ed_Primary	0.36*** (0.08)	0.35*** (0.08)	
ed_Secondary	0.32*** (0.08)	0.31*** (0.08)	
ed_University	0.32*** (0.09)	0.32*** (0.09)	
ed_Missing	0.52*** (0.17)	0.51*** (0.17)	
swb_t0	0.47*** (0.04)	0.45*** (0.04)	
ANS_inc_pm	-0.03*** (0.002)		
ANS_exc_pm		-0.04*** (0.002)	
Unemp	-0.04*** (0.003)	-0.04*** (0.003)	
Inflation_rate	0.0004 (0.0005)	0.0003 (0.0005)	
log(GNI_PPP)	0.59*** (0.03)	0.56*** (0.03)	
Constant	-0.68* (0.42)	-0.23 (0.42)	
Observations	17,733	17,733	
R ²	0.14	0.14	
Adjusted R ²	0.14	0.14	
Residual Std. Error	2.37	2.37	
F Statistic	86.89***	87.26***	

Table 6: Group 1 (Wave 2 and 4)

Note: *p**p**p<0.01; Each of the macro variables (SWB, ANS, Unemployment, inflation rate, log (GNI-PPP)) are as at the initial wave.

	Dependent variable: SWB		
-	OLS		
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM	
	(1)	(2)	
age	-0.04*** (0.01)	-0.04*** (0.01)	
age_squared	0.0004*** (0.0001)	0.0004*** (0.0001)	
age_na	-2.61*** (0.94)	-2.57*** (0.95)	
sex_Female	0.12*** (0.04)	0.12*** (0.04)	
sex_Missing	-0.90 (1.35)	-0.87 (1.36)	
ms_Divorced	-0.45*** (0.08)	-0.46*** (0.08)	
ms_Single	-0.44*** (0.09)	-0.45*** (0.09)	
ms_Widowed	-0.22*** (0.05)	-0.22*** (0.05)	
ms_Missing	0.21 (0.31)	0.22 (0.31)	
es_Unemployed	0.04 (0.08)	0.04 (0.07)	
es_Housewife	0.07 (0.06)	0.05 (0.06)	
es_Student	-0.38*** (0.06)	-0.37*** (0.06)	
es_Retired	-0.53*** (0.07)	-0.52*** (0.07)	
es_Other	-0.68*** (0.12)	-0.66*** (0.12)	
es_Missing	-0.48*** (0.11)	-0.46*** (0.11)	
in_second step	0.21** (0.09)	0.22** (0.09)	
in_Third step	0.33*** (0.08)	0.33*** (0.08)	
in_Fourth step	0.54*** (0.08)	0.55*** (0.08)	
in_Fifth step	0.80*** (0.08)	0.81*** (0.08)	
in_Sixth step	1.04*** (0.08)	1.05*** (0.08)	
in_Seventh step	1.29*** (0.09)	1.30*** (0.09)	
in_Eigth step	1.35*** (0.09)	1.36*** (0.09)	
in_Nineth step	1.36*** (0.14)	1.35*** (0.14)	
in_Tenth step	1.24*** (0.14)	1.21*** (0.14)	
in_Missing	0.73*** (0.08)	0.69*** (0.08)	
ed_Primary	0.37*** (0.08)	0.37*** (0.08)	
ed_Secondary	0.47*** (0.08)	0.46*** (0.08)	
ed_University	0.34*** (0.08)	0.34*** (0.08)	
ed_Missing	0.01 (0.25)	0.02 (0.25)	
swb_t0	-0.32*** (0.04)	-0.37*** (0.05)	
ANS_inc_pm	-0.04*** (0.004)		
ANS_exc_pm		-0.05*** (0.004)	
Unemp	-0.03*** (0.004)	-0.04*** (0.004)	
Inflation_rate	0.001*** (0.0001)	0.001*** (0.0001)	
log(GNI_PPP)	0.40*** (0.02)	0.37*** (0.02)	
Constant	6.54*** (0.34)	7.39*** (0.36)	
Observations	16,831	16,831	
R ²	0.11	0.12	
Adjusted R ²	0.11	0.11	
Residual Std. Error	2.11	2.11	
F Statistic	63.99***	65.27***	

Table 7: Group 2 (Wave 2 and 5)

	Dependent variable: SWB		
	OLS		
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM	
	(1)	(2)	
age	-0.02*** (0.01)	-0.02*** (0.01)	
age_squared	0.0002*** (0.0001)	0.0002*** (0.0001)	
age_na	0.65 (0.41)	0.64 (0.41)	
sex_Female	0.01 (0.03)	0.01 (0.03)	
sex_Missing	-0.44 (0.84)	-0.45 (0.84)	
ms_Divorced	-0.28*** (0.08)	-0.28*** (0.08)	
ms_Single	-0.27*** (0.08)	-0.27*** (0.08)	
ms_Widowed	-0.20*** (0.04)	-0.20*** (0.04)	
ms_Missing	-1.10*** (0.39)	-1.10*** (0.39)	
es_Unemployed	-0.03 (0.07)	-0.03 (0.07)	
es_Housewife	0.04 (0.05)	0.04 (0.05)	
es_Student	0.002 (0.06)	0.001 (0.06)	
es_Retired	-0.33*** (0.05)	-0.33*** (0.05)	
es_Other	-0.29*** (0.09)	-0.29*** (0.09)	
es_Missing	-0.25*** (0.06)	-0.26*** (0.06)	
in_second step	0.002 (0.09)	0.002 (0.09)	
in_Third step	-0.16** (0.08)	-0.16** (0.08)	
in_Fourth step	0.03 (0.08)	0.03 (0.08)	
in_Fifth step	0.26*** (0.08)	0.26*** (0.08)	
in_Sixth step	0.51*** (0.08)	0.51*** (0.08)	
in_Seventh step	0.84*** (0.08)	0.84*** (0.08)	
in_Eigth step	1.27*** (0.09)	1.27*** (0.09)	
in_Nineth step	1.64*** (0.11)	1.64*** (0.11)	
in_Tenth step	2.12*** (0.15)	2.12*** (0.15)	
in_Missing	0.54*** (0.10)	0.54*** (0.10)	
ed_Primary	0.35*** (0.07)	0.36*** (0.07)	
ed_Secondary	0.45*** (0.07)	0.45*** (0.07)	
ed_University	0.38*** (0.08)	0.38*** (0.08)	
ed_Missing	0.59* (0.34)	0.59* (0.34)	
swb_t0	0.21*** (0.04)	0.22*** (0.04)	
ANS_inc_pm	0.01*** (0.002)		
ANS_exc_pm		0.01*** (0.002)	
Unemp	-0.04*** (0.003)	-0.04*** (0.003)	
Inflation_rate	0.002*** (0.0001)	0.002*** (0.0001)	
log(GNI_PPP)	0.43*** (0.02)	0.43*** (0.02)	
Constant	1.96*** (0.37)	1.88*** (0.38)	
Observations	21,035	21,035	
R ²	0.11	0.11	
Adjusted R ²	0.10	0.10	
Residual Std. Error	2.08	2.09	
F Statistic	72.69***	72.66***	

Table 8: Group 3 (Wave 2 and 6)

	Dependent variable: SWB		
	OLS		
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM	
	(1)	(2)	
age	-0.03*** (0.005)	-0.03*** (0.005)	
age_squared	0.0004*** (0.0000)	0.0004*** (0.0000)	
age_na	-0.16 (0.26)	-0.16 (0.26)	
sex_Female	-0.02 (0.02)	-0.02 (0.02)	
sex_Missing	-0.17 (0.85)	-0.17 (0.85)	
ms_Divorced	-0.39*** (0.06)	-0.39*** (0.06)	
ms_Single	-0.34*** (0.06)	-0.34*** (0.06)	
ms_Widowed	-0.25*** (0.03)	-0.25*** (0.03)	
ms_Missing	-0.23 (0.21)	-0.23 (0.21)	
es_Unemployed	-0.04 (0.05)	-0.04 (0.05)	
es_Housewife	0.10*** (0.04)	0.10*** (0.04)	
es_Student	0.08 (0.05)	0.08 (0.05)	
es_Retired	-0.22*** (0.05)	-0.22*** (0.05)	
es_Other	-0.07 (0.07)	-0.07 (0.07)	
es_Missing	0.33*** (0.05)	0.34*** (0.05)	
in_second step	0.04 (0.07)	0.04 (0.07)	
in_Third step	-0.01 (0.06)	-0.01 (0.06)	
in_Fourth step	0.29*** (0.06)	0.29*** (0.06)	
in_Fifth step	0.53*** (0.06)	0.53*** (0.06)	
in_Sixth step	0.75*** (0.06)	0.75*** (0.06)	
in_Seventh step	1.06*** (0.06)	1.06*** (0.06)	
in_Eigth step	1.40*** (0.07)	1.40*** (0.07)	
in_Nineth step	1.75*** (0.09)	1.76*** (0.09)	
in_Tenth step	2.15*** (0.11)	2.15*** (0.11)	
in_Missing	0.76*** (0.08)	0.76*** (0.08)	
ed_Primary	0.39*** (0.05)	0.39*** (0.05)	
ed_Secondary	0.47*** (0.05)	0.47*** (0.05)	
ed_University	0.50*** (0.05)	0.50*** (0.05)	
ed_Missing	0.54*** (0.18)	0.54*** (0.18)	
swb_t0	0.41*** (0.02)	0.41*** (0.02)	
ANS_inc_pm	-0.01*** (0.002)		
ANS_exc_pm		-0.005*** (0.002)	
Unemp	-0.02*** (0.002)	-0.02*** (0.002)	
Inflation_rate	0.01*** (0.001)	0.01*** (0.001)	
log(GNI_PPP)	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.02 (0.01)	
Constant	4.32*** (0.16)	4.35*** (0.16)	
Observations	36,316	36,316	
R ²	0.11	0.11	
Adjusted R ²	0.10	0.10	
Residual Std. Error	2.11	2.11	
F Statistic	125.95***	125.89***	

Table 9: Group 4 (Wave 4 and 6)

	14510 101 di 04p 1 (11410 = 414)	
	Dependent variable: ∆SWB per year		
—	OLS		
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM	
	(1)	(2)	
gr_15-29 male	0.01 (0.03)	0.01 (0.03)	
gr_30-44 female	-0.02 (0.03)	-0.02 (0.03)	
gr_30-44 male	0.001 (0.04)	0.0005 (0.04)	
gr_45-59 female	-0.01 (0.03)	-0.01 (0.03)	
gr_45-59 male	-0.02 (0.03)	-0.02 (0.03)	
gr_60+ female	0.02 (0.03)	0.02 (0.03)	
gr_60+ male	0.04 (0.04)	0.04 (0.04)	
swb_t0	-0.05*** (0.01)	-0.05*** (0.01)	
ANS_inc_pm	-0.005*** (0.001)		
ANS_exc_pm		-0.01*** (0.001)	
Unemp	-0.01*** (0.001)	-0.01*** (0.001)	
Inflation_rate	-0.0000 (0.0002)	-0.0000 (0.0002)	
log(GNI_PPP)	0.06*** (0.01)	0.06*** (0.01)	
Constant	-0.17 (0.15)	-0.12 (0.15)	
Observations	80	80	
R ²	0.55	0.57	
Adjusted R ²	0.47	0.49	
Residual Std. Error	0.07	0.07	
F Statistic	6.88***	7.38***	

Table 10: Group 1 (Wave 2 and 4)

	Dependent variab	le: ΔSWB per year
	OLS	
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM
	(1)	(2)
gr_15-29 male	0.01 (0.01)	0.01 (0.01)
gr_30-44 female	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)
gr_30-44 male	0.003 (0.01)	0.003 (0.01)
gr_45-59 female	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)
gr_45-59 male	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)
gr_60+ female	-0.02 (0.02)	-0.02 (0.02)
gr_60+ male	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)
swb_t0	-0.03*** (0.004)	-0.03*** (0.004)
ANS_inc_pm	0.0003 (0.001)	
ANS_exc_pm		0.0003 (0.001)
Unemp	-0.001* (0.001)	-0.001* (0.001)
Inflation_rate	0.0001*** (0.0000)	0.0001*** (0.0000)
log(GNI_PPP)	0.02*** (0.005)	0.02*** (0.005)
Constant	0.06 (0.05)	0.06 (0.05)
Observations	86	86
R ²	0.47	0.47
Adjusted R ²	0.38	0.38
Residual Std. Error	0.03	0.03
F Statistic	5.36***	5.37***
See note to Table 5		

Table 11: Group 3 (Wave 2 and 6)

		5	
	Dependent variable: ∆SWB per year		
	OLS		
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM	
	(1)	(2)	
gr_15-29 male	-0.003 (0.01)	-0.003 (0.01)	
gr_30-44 female	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)	
gr_30-44 male	-0.005 (0.01)	-0.005 (0.01)	
gr_45-59 female	-0.03 (0.02)	-0.03 (0.02)	
gr_45-59 male	-0.02 (0.02)	-0.02 (0.02)	
gr_60+ female	-0.02 (0.02)	-0.02 (0.02)	
gr_60+ male	-0.03 (0.02)	-0.03 (0.02)	
swb_t0	-0.05*** (0.01)	-0.05*** (0.01)	
ANS_inc_pm	-0.001 (0.001)		
ANS_exc_pm		$-0.001^{*}(0.001)$	
Unemp	-0.001 (0.001)	-0.001 (0.001)	
Inflation_rate	0.0001*** (0.0000)	0.0001*** (0.0000)	
log(GNI_PPP)	0.03*** (0.01)	0.03*** (0.005)	
Constant	0.13** (0.06)	0.15*** (0.06)	
Observations	86	86	
R ²	0.62	0.63	
Adjusted R ²	0.56	0.57	
Residual Std. Error	0.04	0.04	
F Statistic	10.12***	10.32***	

Table 12: Group 2 (Wave 2 and 5)

	Dependent variable: ΔSWB per year		
	OLS		
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM	
	(1)	(2)	
gr_15-29 male	0.01 (0.02)	0.01 (0.02)	
gr_30-44 female	-0.01 (0.02)	-0.01 (0.02)	
gr_30-44 male	-0.002 (0.02)	-0.002 (0.02)	
gr_45-59 female	-0.02 (0.02)	-0.02 (0.02)	
gr_45-59 male	-0.01 (0.02)	-0.01 (0.02)	
gr_60+ female	-0.03 (0.02)	-0.03 (0.02)	
gr_60+ male	-0.02 (0.02)	-0.02 (0.02)	
swb_t0	-0.06*** (0.01)	-0.06*** (0.01)	
ANS_inc_pm	-0.001 (0.001)		
ANS_exc_pm		-0.001 (0.001)	
Unemp	-0.001 (0.001)	-0.001 (0.001)	
Inflation_rate	0.001*** (0.0003)	0.001*** (0.0003)	
log(GNI_PPP)	0.01 (0.01)	0.01 (0.01)	
Constant	0.38*** (0.06)	0.39*** (0.06)	
Observations	168	168	
R ²	0.44	0.44	
Adjusted R ²	0.40	0.40	
Residual Std. Error	0.07	0.07	
F Statistic	10.31***	10.29***	

Table 13: Group 4 (Wave 4 and 6)

See note to Table 5

6 Conclusion

ANS (or GS, CI, CW) has been widely applied as a comprehensive measure of weaksustainability. As such it has been used as a tool to predict aggregate objective well-being (Ferreira, Hamilton, & Vincent, 2008, Gnègnè, 2009, Greasley et al., 2014, 2016, Hanley et al., 2016). In this paper, we have focused on adopting ANS to model future individual level SWB and aggregate group changes in SWB. To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first attempt in this regard that includes controls for initial levels of SWB of a country.

We used the data for self-reported life-satisfaction and other personal traits such as age, sex, marital status, income level, and education provided by WVS in waves 2, 4, 5 and 6. This data was gathered in four groups of countries in which each country is surveyed in two different waves (i.e. four groups of countries being those surveyed in: wave 2 and 4, wave 2 and 5, wave 2 and 6, and wave 4 and 6). Individual level data was combined with macroeconomic data from the World Bank and other sources.

The key relationships that we find are as follows. Firstly, over horizons of 10 – 15 years, the level of individuals' SWB in a given period is negatively associated with ANS in the initial period, and for 9 of 12 specifications this relationship is significantly different from zero. Secondly, for a 20-year time horizon this relationship turns positive (significantly so in our OLS model 2 specifications). These results are consistent with political economy dynamics in which a country that starts off with lower ANS tends to spend more on the current welfare of people at the expense of its savings. This raises individuals' life-satisfaction in the short-term but diminishes the reserves available to raise people's well-being over longer time horizon. These results hold for both individual level and aggregate group level results. It is important to note that ANS is regarded as a sustainability measure for infinite time horizons and 20 years is still a relatively short time period to study this hypothesised long-term relationship. Lack of longer term data mean that we cannot assess the relationship over even longer time horizons. We leave this to be examined in future research as more data becomes available.

Overall, our results highlight an important political economy challenge for policies that are designed to boost sustainable outcomes (proxied, in our case, by higher ANS). Governments that act in this way may suffer in the short term (that is relevant to political cycles) relative to more profligate governments, and so potentially lose political power. This political economy challenge may help to explain why many governments do not run sustainable policies. Our 20year time horizon results indicate that it would be beneficial to examine the relationship between ANS and SWB over longer-time horizons. Such an analysis – as data becomes available for future survey waves – would contribute to a better understanding of whether people gain intergenerationally in terms of both sustainability and well-being when governments are focused on maintaining or increasing ANS as posited by the broader literature on genuine savings and related measures.

7 References

- Arrow, K. J., Dasgupta, P., Goulder, L. H., Mumford, K. J. & Oleson, K. (2012). Sustainability and the measurement of wealth. *Environment and Development Economics*, 17(03), 317–353. doi:10.1017/S1355770X12000137
- Azzi, C. & Ehrenberg, R. (1975). Household Allocation of Time and Church Attendance. *Journal of Political Economy*, 83(1), pp. 27–56. The University of Chicago Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1833272
- Biswas-Dieer, R. & Diener, E. (2001). Making the Best of a Bad Situation: Satisfaction in the Slums of Calcutta. *Social Indicators Research*, *55*(3), 329–352. Kluwer Academic Publishers. doi:10.1023/A:1010905029386
- Blanchflower, D. G. & Oswald, A. J. (2005). Happiness and the Human Development Index: The Paradox of Australia. *The Australian Economic Review*, *38*(3), 307–318.
- Blum, M., Ducoing, C. & McLaughin, E. (2017). A sustainable century : genuine savings in developing and developed countries, 1900-2000. *National wealth : what is missing, why it matters* (pp. 89–113). doi:10.1093/oso/9780198803720.003.0005
- Blum, M., McLaughlin, E. & Hanley, N. (2013). Genuine savings and future well-being in Germany, 1850-2000.
- Bonini, A. N. (2008). Cross-National Variation in Individual Life Satisfaction: Effects of National Wealth, Human Development, and Environmental Conditions. *Social Indicators Research*, *87*(2), 223–236. doi:10.1007/s11205-007-9167-6
- Brown, P. H. & Tierney, B. (2009). Religion and subjective well-being among the elderly in China . *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, *38*(2), 310 319. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2008.07.014
- Carstensen, L. L., Pasupathi, M., Mayr, U. & Nesselroade, J. R. (2000). Emotional experience in everyday life across the adult life span. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 79(4), 644. American Psychological Association.
- Cummins, R. A. (2012). The determinants of happiness. *International Journal of Happiness and Development*, 1(1), 86–101. Inderscience.
- Dasgupta, P. & Mäler, K.-G. (2001). Wealth as a criterion for sustainable development. Citeseer.
- Deci, E. L. & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Hedonia, eudaimonia, and well-being: An introduction. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *9*(1), 1–11. Springer.
- Defra. (2009). Sustainable development indicators in your pocket. London: TSO.
- Dengah, H. J. F. (2014). How Religious Status Shapes Psychological Well-being: Cultural Consonance as a Measure of Subcultural Status among Brazilian Pentecostals . *Social Science & Medicine*, (0), . doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.05.028
- Diener, E. & Biswas-Diener, R. (2002). Will Money Increase Subjective Well-Being? Social Indicators Research, 57(2), 119–169. doi:10.1023/A:1014411319119
- Diener, E. & Diener, M. (2009). Cross-cultural correlates of life satisfaction and self-esteem. *Culture and well-being* (pp. 71–91). Springer.
- Diener, E., Lucas, R. E. & Oishi, S. (2002). Subjective well-being. *Handbook of positive psychology*, 16(2), 63–73. Oxford University Press Oxford, UK.
- Diener, E., Ng, W., Harter, J. & Arora, R. (2010). Wealth and happiness across the world: material prosperity predicts life evaluation, whereas psychosocial prosperity predicts positive feeling. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *99*(1), 52. American Psychological Association.
- Diener, E., Oishi, S. & Lucas, R. E. (2003). Personality, Culture, and Subjective Well-Being: Emotional and Cognitive Evaluations of Life. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *54*(1), 403–425. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.54.101601.145056
- Dockery, A. (2010). Culture and Wellbeing: The Case of Indigenous Australians. *Social Indicators Research*, 99, 315–332. Springer Netherlands. doi:10.1007/s11205-010-9582-y

- Dodds, S. (1997). Towards a "science of sustainability": Improving the way ecological economics understands human well-being . *Ecological Economics*, 23(2), 95 111. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(97)00047-5
- Donnelly, M. & Pop-Eleches, G. (2012). The Questionable Validity of Income Measures in the World Values Survey. Prepared for the Princeton University Political Methodology Seminar. http://www. princeton. edu/politics/about/file-repository/public/DonnellyPopElechesMarch16. pdf.
- Easterlin, R. A. (1974). Does economic growth improve the human lot? Some empirical evidence. *Nations and households in economic growth*, *89*, 89–125.
- Easterlin, R. A. (2005). Feeding the illusion of growth and happiness: A reply to Hagerty and Veenhoven. *Social indicators research*, 74(3), 429–443. Springer.
- Easterlin, R. A., McVey, L. A., Switek, M., Sawangfa, O. & Zweig, J. S. (2010). The happiness–income paradox revisited. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. doi:10.1073/pnas.1015962107
- Ellison, C. G. (1991). Religious involvement and subjective well-being. *Journal of health and social behavior*, *32*, 80–99. JSTOR.
- Ellison, C. G., Gay, D. A. & Glass, T. A. (1989). Does Religious Commitment Contribute to Individual Life Satisfaction? *Social Forces*, 68(1), 100–123. doi:10.1093/sf/68.1.100
- Engelbrecht, H.-J. (2009). Natural capital, subjective well-being, and the new welfare economics of sustainability: Some evidence from cross-country regressions. *Ecological Economics*, 69(2), 380–388. Elsevier.
- Engelbrecht, H.-J. (2012). Some empirics of the bivariate relationship between average subjective wellbeing and the sustainable wealth of nations. *Applied Economics*, 44(5), 537–554. doi:10.1080/00036846.2010.510464
- Fankhauser, S. (1994). The social costs of greenhouse gas emissions: An expected value approach. *Energy Journal*, 15(2), 157. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.waikato.ac.nz/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=95011 31718&site=ehost-live
- Ferreira, S., Hamilton, K. & Vincent, J. R. (2008). Comprehensive Wealth and Future Consumption: Accounting for Population Growth. World Bank Economic Review, 22(2), 233–248. doi:10.1093/wber/lhn008
- Ferreira, S. & Vincent, J. R. (2005). Genuine Savings: Leading Indicator of Sustainable Development? *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 53(3), 737–754. The University of Chicago Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/426834
- Ferrer-i-Carbonell, A. & Frijters, P. (2004). How Important is Methodology for the estimates of the determinants of Happiness? *The Economic Journal*, 114(497), 641–659. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0297.2004.00235.x
- Frey, B. S. & Stutzer, A. (2002). What Can Economists Learn from Happiness Research? *Journal of Economic Literature*, 40(2), 402–435. doi:doi:10.1257/002205102320161320
- Galloway, S., Bell, D., Hamilton, C. & Scullion, A. (2006). *Well-Being and Quality of Life: Measuring the Benefits of Culture and Sport-A Literature Review and Thinkpiece*. Scottish Government.
- Gleisner, B., Llewellyn-Fowler, M. & McAlister, F. (2011). Working towards higher living standards for New Zealanders. *New Zealand Treasury*, *2*.
- Gnègnè, Y. (2009). Adjusted net saving and welfare change. *Ecological Economics*, 68(4), 1127 1139. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2008.08.002
- Greasley, D., Hanley, N., Kunnas, J., McLaughlin, E., Oxley, L. & Warde, P. (2014). Testing genuine savings as a forward-looking indicator of future well-being over the (very) long-run . *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 67(2), 171 – 188. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2013.12.001

Greasley, D., Hanley, N., McLaughlin, E. & Oxley, L. (2016). Australia: a Land of Missed Opportunities?

- Greasley, D. & Madsen, J. B. (2016). The rise and fall of exceptional Australian Incomes since 1800. *Australian Economic History Review*. Wiley Online Library.
- Green, T. L. (2013). Teaching (un)sustainability? University sustainability commitments and student experiences of introductory economics . *Ecological Economics* , *94*(0), 135 142. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.08.003
- Grimes, A., Ormsby, J., Robinson, A. & Wong, S. Y. (2016). Subjective wellbeing impacts of national and subnational fiscal policies. *REGION, Motu Working Paper*, 3(1), 43–69. doi:10.18335/region.v3i1.121
- Grimes, A. & Reinhardt, M. G. (2015). Relative income and subjective wellbeing: Intra-national and international comparisons by settlement and country type. *Motu Working Paper*.
- Gross, J. J., Carstensen, L. L., Pasupathi, M., Tsai, J., Götestam Skorpen, C. & Hsu, A. Y. (1997). Emotion and aging: experience, expression, and control. *Psychology and aging*, *12*(4), 590. American Psychological Association.
- Hamilton, K. & Atkinson, G. (2006). *Wealth, welfare and sustainability: Advances in measuring sustainable development.* Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Hamilton, K. & Clemens, M. (1999). Genuine Savings Rates in Developing Countries. *World Bank Economic Review*, *13*(2), 333–356. doi:10.1093/wber/13.2.333
- Hanley, N., Dupuy, L. & McLaughlin, E. (2015). GENUINE SAVINGS AND SUSTAINABILITY. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 29(4), 779–806. doi:10.1111/joes.12120
- Hanley, N., Oxley, L., Greasley, D. M. E. & Blum, M. (2016). Empirical Testing of Genuine Savings as an Indicator of Weak Sustainability: A Three-Country Analysis of Long-Run Trends. *Environmental* and Resource Economics, 63(2), 313–338. doi:10.1007/s10640-015-9928-7
- Hartwick, J. M. (1977). Intergenerational equity and the investing of rents from exhaustible resources. *American economic review*, *67*(5), 972–974.
- Hartwick, J. M. (1990). Natural resources, national accounting and economic depreciation. *Journal of Public Economics*, *43*(3), 291 304. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0047-2727(90)90002-Y
- Headey, B. & Wearing, A. J. (1992). *Understanding happiness: A theory of subjective well-being*. Longman Cheshire.
- Heine, S. J., Lehman, D. R., Markus, H. R. & Kitayama, S. (1999). Is there a universal need for positive self-regard? *Psychological review*, *106*(4), 766. American Psychological Association.
- Heine, S. J., Takata, T. & Lehman, D. R. (2000). Beyond self-presentation: Evidence for self-criticism among Japanese. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *26*(1), 71–78. Sage Publications.
- Helliwell, J. F. (2003). How's life? Combining individual and national variables to explain subjective wellbeing . *Economic Modelling* , 20(2), 331 – 360. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0264-9993(02)00057-3
- Helliwell, J. F. & Putnam, R. D. (2004). The social context of well-being. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), 1435–1446. doi:10.1098/rstb.2004.1522
- Helliwell, J., Layard, R. & Sachs, J. (2012). World Happiness Report. Columbia University.
- Herzog, A., Rodgers, W. L. & Woodworth, J. (1982). Subjective well-being among different age groups.
- Hicks, J. R. (1946). Value and Capital: An Inquiry Into Some Fundamental Principles of Economic Theory. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Higgins, E. T. (1997). Beyond pleasure and pain. The American psychologist, 52(12), 1280–300.
- Huppert, F. A., Baylis, N. & Keverne, B. (2004). Introduction: why do we need a science of well-being? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *359*(1449), 1331–1332. The Royal Society.
- Jackson, T., Jager, W. & Stagl, S. (2004). Beyond insatiability: needs theory, consumption and sustainability. *ESRC Sustainable Technologies Programme Working Paper Series*, (2004/2).

- Jamison, J. C. (2008). Well-being and neuroeconomics. *Economics and Philosophy*, 24(03), 407–418. Cambridge Univ Press.
- Kettner, C., Köppl, A. & Stagl, S. (2012). List of well-being indicators. WWWforEurope. Retrieved from http://www.foreurope.eu/fileadmin/documents/pdf/Workingpapers/WWWforEurope_WPS_no 002_MS30.pdf
- Konow, J. & Earley, J. (2006). The Hedonistic Paradox: Is Homo Economicus Happier.
- Land, K. C. & Michalos, A. C. (2017). Fifty Years After the Social Indicators Movement: Has the Promise Been Fulfilled? *Social Indicators Research*. doi:10.1007/s11205-017-1571-y
- Leigh, A. & Wolfers, J. (2006). Happiness and the human development index: Australia is not a paradox. *Australian Economic Review*, *39*(2), 176–184. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8462.2006.00408.x
- Li, Q. (2014). Ethnic diversity and neighborhood house prices . *Regional Science and Urban Economics* , 48(0), 21 38. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2014.04.007
- Luttmer, E. F. (2005). Neighbors as negatives: relative earnings and well-being. *The Quarterly journal of economics*, *120*(3), 963–1002. MIT Press.
- Ma, G. & Yi, W. (2010). China's high saving rate: myth and reality. *Economie internationale*, (2), 5–39. La Doc. française.
- MacKerron, G. (2012). HAPPINESS ECONOMICS FROM 35 000 FEET. Journal of Economic Surveys, 26(4), 705–735. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6419.2010.00672.x
- Miguel, E. & Gugerty, M. K. (2005). Ethnic diversity, social sanctions, and public goods in Kenya . *Journal of Public Economics*, 89(11–12), 2325 2368. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2004.09.004
- Novak, M. & Pahor, M. (2017). Using a multilevel modelling approach to explain the influence of economic development on the subjective well-being of individuals. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istra**vzivanja*, *30*(1), 705–720. Taylor \& Francis.
- Oishi, S. & Diener, E. (2003). Culture and well-being: The cycle of action, evaluation, and decision. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *29*(8), 939–949. Sage Publications.
- Parker, J. A. (1999). Spendthrift in America? On two decades of decline in the US saving rate. *NBER macroeconomics annual*, *14*, 317–370. MIT Press.
- Pearce, D. W. & Atkinson, G. D. (1993). Capital Theory and the Measurement of Sustainable Development: An Indicator of Weak Sustainability . *Ecological Economics*, 8(2), 103 – 108. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0921-8009(93)90039-9
- Pearce, W. D., Markandya, A. & Barbier, E. (1989). Blueprint for a green economy (Vol. 1). Earthscan .
- Pezzey, J. C. V. (2004). One-sided sustainability tests with amenities, and changes in technology, trade and population . *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, *48*(1), 613 631. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2003.10.002
- Pittau, M. G., Zelli, R. & Gelman, A. (2010). Economic Disparities and Life Satisfaction in European Regions. Social Indicators Research, 96(2), 339–361. doi:10.1007/s11205-009-9481-2
- Qasim, M. (2017). Sustainability and wellbeing: a scientometric and bibliometric review of the literature. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *31*(4), 1035–1061. doi:10.1111/joes.12183
- Qasim, M., Oxley, L. & McLaughlin, E. (2017). Testing genuine savings as a long-run sustainability and well-being indicator for New Zealand. *University of St. Andrews Working Paper*.
- Roberts, L., Brower, A., Kerr, G., Lambert, S., McWilliam, W., Moore, K., Quinn, J., et al. (2015). The nature of wellbeing: How nature's ecosystem services contribute to the wellbeing of New Zealand and New Zealanders. *New Zealand Department of Conservation*.
- Ryan, R. M. & Deci, E. L. (2001). On Happiness and Human Potentials: A Review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *52*(1), 141–166. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- Schor, J. B. (1999). The overspent American: Why we want what we don't need. HarperPerennial New York.

- Schwartz, B., Ward, A., Monterosso, J., Lyubomirsky, S., White, K. & Lehman, D. R. (2002). Maximizing versus satisficing: happiness is a matter of choice. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 83(5), 1178. American Psychological Association.
- Schyns, P. (2002). Wealth Of Nations, Individual Income andLife Satisfaction in 42 Countries: A Multilevel Approach. *Social Indicators Research*, *60*(1), 5–40. doi:10.1023/A:1021244511064
- Seder, J. P. & Oishi, S. (2009). Ethnic/racial homogeneity in college students' Facebook friendship networks and subjective well-being . *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43(3), 438 443. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2009.01.009
- Sengupta, N. K., Osborne, D., Houkamau, C. A., Hoverd, W. J., Wilson, M. S., Greaves, L. M., West-Newman, T., et al. (2012). How much happiness does money buy? Income and subjective well-being in New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *41*(2).
- Stevenson, B. & Wolfers, J. (2008). Economic growth and subjective well-being: reassessing the Easterlin paradox.
- Stiglitz, J. E., Sen, A. & Fitoussi, J.-P. (2010). Report by the commission on the measurement of economic performance and social progress. *Paris: Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress*.
- Tella, R. D. & MacCulloch, R. (2008). Gross national happiness as an answer to the Easterlin Paradox? . *Journal of Development Economics*, 86(1), 22 – 42. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2007.06.008
- Di Tella, R., MacCulloch, R. J. & Oswald, A. J. (2001). Preferences over inflation and unemployment: Evidence from surveys of happiness. *The American economic review*, 91(1), 335–341. JSTOR.
- Tiberius, V. (2004). Cultural differences and philosophical accounts of well-being. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *5*(3), 293–314. Kluwer Academic Publishers. doi:10.1007/s10902-004-8791-y
- Veenhoven, R. (1995). World database of happiness. Social Indicators Research, 34(3), 299-313. Springer.
- Vemuri, A. W. & Costanza, R. (2006). The role of human, social, built, and natural capital in explaining life satisfaction at the country level: Toward a National Well-Being Index (NWI). *Ecological Economics*, 58(1), 119 – 133. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2005.02.008
- Verme, P. (2011). Life Satisfaction And Income Inequality. *Review of Income and Wealth*, 57(1), 111–127. doi:10.1111/j.1475-4991.2010.00420.x
- Waldron, S. (2010). Measuring subjective wellbeing in the UK. Newport: Office for National Statistics.
- Welsch, H. & Kühling, J. (2016). How Has the Crisis of 2008-09 Affected Subjective Well-Being? Evidence from 25 OECD Countries. *Bulletin of Economic Research*, *68*(1), 34–54. Wiley Online Library.
- Yang, L. & Jianfeng, Y. (2007). Anatomy of High Saving Rate of China: Analysis Based upon Flow of Funds Account of China from 1992 to 2003 [J]. *Economic Research Journal*, *6*, 001.

Appendix

Calculation of adjusted net savings (ANS)

ANS is calculated as:

$$ANS = (GNS - D_h + CSE - \sum R_{n,i} - CD - PM) / GNI$$

Where:

- ANS Adjusted net savings
- GNS Gross national savings
- D_h Depreciation of fixed capital
- CSE Current (non-fixed capital) i.e. expenditure on education
- $R_{n,i}$ Rent from the depletion of natural capital
- *CD* Damages from carbon dioxide emissions
- *PM* Damages from particulate matter (included in PM adjusted ANS only)
- GNI Gross national income at market prices

Gross national savings (GNS):

According to the World Bank methodology, GNS is calculated as the difference between GNI and public and private consumption plus net transfers.

Depreciation of fixed capital:

 D_h is the replacement value of capital consumed in the process of production. It is estimated as a share of national consumption of fixed capital.

Expenditure on education:

Education expenditure is used to proxy human capital investments in ANS equation. It includes current operating expenditure on education at all levels i.e. primary, secondary, tertiary, vocational etc. which include salaries and wages and excludes capital expenditures such as spending on buildings and equipment.

Rent from natural resources:

Rent from the extraction of minerals and energy resources e.g. crude oil, gas, coal etc. is given by:

$$Rent = Production volume \times (Market price - Cost of production)$$

Damages from carbon dioxide:

The World Bank assumes a conservative figure of \$20 as the global marginal social cost of a metric ton of CO2 emission from Fankhauser (1994).

Damages from particulate matter:

PM damages estimates are given by the willingness to pay for the prevention of morbidity and mortality attributed to particulate matter emissions. It is included only in the PM adjusted estimates of ANS.

Data appendix

Appendix Table A. SWB and personal controls

Survey Question	Response values	Question #	Notes	Data processing
Q: SWB				
All things considered, how satisfied are you with your life as a whole these days? Using this card on which 1 means you are "completely dissatisfied" and 10 means you are "completely satisfied" where would you put your satisfaction with your life as a whole? (Code one number): Completely dissatisfied Completely satisfied 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 O: Age	-5 Missing; Not asked by the interviewer -4 Not asked -3 Not applicable -2 No answer -1 Don't know 1 Dissatisfied 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Satisfied	Wave 2: V96 Wave 4: V81 Wave 5: V22 Wave 6: V23	This variable and its responses are consistent across all surveys Unique values in the data -5, -2, -1, 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10	Dropped rows with missing values i.e.: -5, -2, -1 Remaining unique values 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10
Can you tell me your year of birth, please? 19 (write in last two digits) This means you are years old (write in age in two digits).	-5 Missing; Unknown -4 Not asked in survey -3 Not applicable -2 No answer -1 Don't know	Wave 2: V355 Wave 4: V225 Wave 5: V237 Wave 6: V242	This variable and its responses are consistent across all surveys Unique values in the data -5, -3, -2, -1, 15 – 99	Re-coded missing values as -5 i.e5, -3, -2, -1 replaced with -5 Remaining unique values Non-missing: 15 – 99 Missing: -5 Age missing dummy 1 for -5 and 0 otherwise
Q: Sex				
Sex of respondent: 1 Male 2 Female	 -5 Missing; Unknown -4 Not asked in survey -3 Not applicable -2 No answer -1 Don't know 1 Male 2 Female 9 na (only two rows in wave 4) 	Wave 2: V353 Wave 4: V223 Wave 5: V235 Wave 6: V240	This variable and its responses are consistent across all surveys Unique values in the data -5, -2, 1,2,9	Re-coded missing values as 99 i.e5, -2, 9 replaced with 99 Sex dummies Male Female Missing

Survey Question	Response values	Question #	Notes	Data processing
Q: Marital status				
Are you currently (read out and code one answer only): 1 Married 2 Living together as married 3 Divorced 4 Separated 5 Widowed 6 Single	 -5 Missing -4 Not asked in survey -3 Not applicable -2 No answer -1 Don't know 1 Married 2 Living together as married 3 Divorced 4 Separated 5 Widowed 6 Single 10 Living apart while married/cohabitation 	Wave 2: V181 Wave 4: V106 Wave 5: V55 Wave 6: V57	This variable and its responses are consistent across all surveys Unique values in the data -5, -2, -1, 1,2,3,4,5,6,10	Variable re-coding 1. Married: 1,2,10 2. Divorced: 3,4 3. Single: 5 4. Widowed: 6 99 Missing: -5, -2, -1

Q: Employment

Are you employed now or not?	-5 Missing; RU: Inappropriate response -4 Not asked -3 Not applicable -2 No answer; SG: Refused -1 Don't know 1 Full-time 2 Part-time 3 Self-employed 4 Retired 5 Housewife 6 Students 7 Unemployed 8 Other	Wave 2: V358 Wave 4: V229 Wave 5: V241 Wave 6: V229	This variable and its responses are consistent across all surveys Unique values in the data -5, -4, -3, -2, -1, 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8	Variable re-coding 1. Employed: 1,2,3 2. Unemployed: 4 3. Housewife: 5 4. Student: 6 5. Retired: 7 6. Other: 8 99 Missing: -5, -4, -3, -2, -1
------------------------------	--	--	---	---

Survey Question	Response values	Question #	Notes	Data processing
Q: Income scale				
On this card is an income scale on which 1 indicates the lowest income group and 10 the highest income group in your country. We would like to know in what group your household is. Please, specify the appropriate number, counting all wages, salaries, pensions and other incomes that come in. (Code one number): Lowest group Highest group 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	 -5 Missing; Not asked by the interviewer -4 Not asked -3 Not applicable -2 No answer -1 Don't know 1 Lower step 2 second step 3 Third step 4 Fourth step 5 Fifth step 6 Sixth step 7 Seventh step 8 Eighth step 9 Ninth step 10 Upper step 	r Wave 2: V363 Wave 4: V236 Wave 5: V253 Wave 6: V239	This variable and its responses are consistent across all surveys Unique values in the data -5, -4, -2, -1, 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10	Variable re-coding 1 – 10 steps of income 99 Missing: -5, -4, -2, -1
Q: Education				
What is the highest educational level that you have attained? [NOTE: if respondent indicates to be a student, code highest level s/he expects to complete]: 1 No formal education 2 Incomplete primary school 3 Complete primary school 4 Incomplete secondary school: technical/vocational type 5 Complete secondary: university-preparatory type 7 Complete secondary: university-preparatory type 8 Some university-level education, without degree 9 University-level education, with degree	 -5 Missing; Not asked by the interviewer -4 Not asked -3 Not applicable -2 No answer -1 Don't know 1 No formal education 2 Incomplete primary school 3 Complete primary school 4 Incomplete secondary school: technical/ vocational type 5 Complete secondary school: technical/ vocational type 6 Incomplete secondary school: university-preparatory type 7 Complete secondary school: university-preparatory type 8 Some university-level education, without degree 9 University - level education, with degree 	Wave 2: V375 Wave 4: V226 Wave 5: V238 Wave 6: V248	This variable and its responses are consistent across all surveys Unique values in the data -5, -4, -3, -2, -1, 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9	Variable re-coding 1. No education: 1 2. Primary: 2,3 3. Secondary: 4,5,6,7 4. University: 8,9 99. issing: -5, -4, -3, -2, -1

Variable		Definition	Note and data processing
ANS_exc_pm	Adjusted net savings, excluding particulate emission damage (% of GNI)	Adjusted net savings are equal to net national savings plus education expenditure and minus energy depletion, mineral depletion, net forest depletion, and carbon dioxide. This series excludes particulate emissions damage. Where Net National Saving (NNS), is calculated as the difference between gross national savings and depreciation/consumption of fixed capital; and gross national savings (GNS) are calculated as the difference between gross national income and public and private consumption plus net current transfers according to the World Bank methodology (Bolt, Matete, & Clemens, 2002).	Any country which does not have ANS data for the year it was surveyed (or immediate previous or following year) for WVS was dropped from the final dataset.
ANS_inc_pm	Adjusted net savings, including particulate emission damage (% of GNI)	Adjusted net savings are equal to net national savings plus education expenditure and minus energy depletion, mineral depletion, net forest depletion, and carbon dioxide and particulate emissions damage. (where net national savings is as defined above)	Same as above
Unemployment	Unemployment, total (% of total labor force) (modeled ILO estimate)	Unemployment refers to the share of the labor force that is without work but available for and seeking employment.	This data series starts from 1991 for all countries in WDI data from the World Bank. We used 1991 unemployment figures for the countries which were survey in 1990.
СРІ	Inflation, consumer prices (annual %)	Inflation as measured by the consumer price index reflects the annual percentage change in the cost to the average consumer of acquiring a basket of goods and services that may be fixed or changed at specified intervals, such as yearly. The Laspeyres formula is generally used.	
GNI_PPP	GNI per capita, PPP (constant 2011 international \$)	GNI per capita based on purchasing power parity (PPP). PPP GNI is gross national income (GNI) converted to international dollars using purchasing power parity rates. An international dollar has the same purchasing power over GNI as a U.S. dollar has in the United States. GNI is the sum of value added by all resident producers plus any product taxes (less subsidies) not included in the valuation of output plus net receipts of primary income (compensation of employees and property income) from abroad. Data are in constant 2011 international dollars.	Data for China was downloaded from: <u>http://hdr.undp.org/en/data</u> China GNI data has the same base year

Appendix Table B: Adjusted Net Savings and macro controls

Data sources:

SWB and personal controls

Data is downloaded from World Values Survey website accessed on Monday, 12 June 2017. URLs for each wave as following:

- Wave 2: <u>http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/WVSDocumentationWV2.jsp</u>
- Wave 4: <u>http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/WVSDocumentationWV4.jsp</u>
- Wave 5: <u>http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/WVSDocumentationWV5.jsp</u>
- Wave 6: <u>http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/WVSDocumentationWV6.jsp</u>

Adjusted Net Savings and macro controls

Adjusted net savings (ANS) and macro controls data is downloaded from the following links:

- <u>http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=world-development-indicators</u>
- GNI-PPP data for China downloaded from <u>http://hdr.undp.org/en/data</u>



Appendix Figure 1: Distribution of SWB by income level in each group

NOTE: This box plot represents the relationship between life-satisfaction and income levels by data groups and by wave within each group. A boxplot summarises minimum, 1st quartile, median, 3rd quartile and maximum values of life-satisfaction for each income step. Some outliers on the lower end of life-satisfaction in certain income steps are represented by dots. The following diagram illustrates how to read a boxplot.



https://www.leansigmacorporation.com/wp/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Box-Plot-MTB_01.png



Appendix Figure 2: Distribution of SWB by real (ppp-adjusted) GNI per capita

Country	Voor		ANC ove nm	ANC incom	Unomployment	CDI	CNI DDD
Country	rear	wave	ANS_exc_pm	ANS_IIIC_PII	Unemployment	CPI	GNI-PPP
Name			(% of GNI)	(% of GNI)	(% of total	(annual	(constant 2011
					labor force)	%)	international \$)
Argentina	1991	w2	7.3	7.0	5.8	171.7	11,676
Argentina	1999	w4	6.1	5.9	14.1	-1.2	14,815
Argentina	2006	w5	10.2	10.1	9.4	10.9	16,077
Argentina	2013	w6	7.9	7.7	7.1	10.6	19,077
Brazil	1991	w2	14.1	13.4	10.2	432.8	10,103
Brazil	2006	w5	10.7	10.5	11.5	4.2	12,140
Brazil	2014	w6	10.5	10.3	6.8	6.3	15,077
Chile	1990	w2	5.6	5.3	5.3	26.0	8,579
Chile	2000	w4	5.9	5.7	9.2	3.8	13,905
Chile	2006	w5	2.4	2.3	7.7	3.4	15,650
Chile	2011	w6	4.2	4.1	7.1	3.3	19,187
China	1990	w2	19.2	17.9	4.9	3.1	1.487
China	2001	w4	20.2	19.5	4.5	0.7	3.883
China	2007	w5	28.5	28.0	3.8	4.8	7.258
China	2012	w6	23.2	22.7	4 5	2.6	10 981
Egynt	2001	w4	12.0	11.3	93	2.3	7 592
Fount	2001	w6	4 5	3.9	13.2	94	9778
India	1000	1472	13.9	10.7	4.0	9.1	1 732
India	2001	VV Z	15.0	10.7	4.0	9.0 2 7	1,732
India	2001	VV4	13.7 22 E	13.0	J.0 4 2	5.7 6 1	2,340
India	2000	w5	23.3	22.2 20 E	4.5	0.1	3,393
India	2012	W6	21.8	20.5	3.0	9.3	4,771
Japan	2000	W4	12.4	12.2	4./	-0.7	34,382
Japan	2010	w6	6.2	6.1	5.1	-0.7	36,685
Jordan	2001	w4	11.1	10.9	15.8	1.8	7,603
Jordan	2014	w6	14.0	13.9	11.9	2.9	8,525
Kyrgyzstan	2003	w4	-4.0	-5.0	9.9	3.0	2,166
Kyrgyzstan	2011	w6	3.3	2.6	8.5	16.5	2,610
Mexico	1990	w2	8.8	8.2	3.0	26.7	12,178
Mexico	2000	w4	11.6	11.4	2.6	9.5	14,696
Mexico	2005	w5	10.6	10.4	3.6	4.0	15,002
Mexico	2012	w6	11.0	10.8	4.9	4.1	16,293
Morocco	2001	w4	26.6	26.3	12.5	0.6	4,665
Morocco	2011	w6	22.0	21.7	8.9	0.9	6,576
Nigeria	1990	w2	-11.7	-13.7	5.9	7.4	2,753
Nigeria	2000	w4	5.3	3.3	6.7	6.9	2,388
Nigeria	2011	w6	8.0	6.6	7.3	10.8	4,970
Pakistan	2001	w4	12.0	9.3	7.8	3.1	3,442
Pakistan	2012	w6	12.1	10.4	6.0	9.7	4,589
Peru	2001	w4	7.1	6.7	7.9	2.0	6.425
Peru	2012	w6	11.0	10.8	3.6	3.7	10.257
Philippines	2001	w4	29.4	28.7	10.9	5.3	5.043
Philippines	2012	w6	26.9	26.4	70	3.2	7 205
Singanore	2002	w4	25.7	25.6	5 7	-0.4	50.007
Singapore	2002	w6	384	20.0	2.8	45	73 289
South Africa	1000	w0	22	0.5	23.0	14.3	9552
South Africa	2001	VV Z	2.2	0.3	23.7	57	9,552
South Africa	2001	vv4	0.7	-0.2	20.2 22 6	J./ / L	7,010 11 000
South Africa	2000	w5	2.0	1.5	22.0	4.0 F 0	11,323
South Kerre	2013	Wb	0.4	-0.0	24.0	5.X	12,125
South Korea	1990	w2	23.9	23.6	2.4	8.6	11,615
South Korea	2001	w4	16.6	16.4	4.0	4.1	21,379
South Korea	2005	w5	18.7	18.6	3.7	2.8	25,315
South Korea	2010	w6	19.5	19.4	3.7	2.9	30,387
Spain	1990	w2	12.6	12.4	15.9	6.7	23,593
Spain	2000	w4	12.0	12.0	13.8	3.4	29,853

Appendix Table C: Adjusted Net Savings and macro controls dataset

Country	Year	wave	ANS_exc_pm	ANS_inc_pm	Unemployment	CPI	GNI-PPP
Name			(% of GNI)	(% of GNI)	(% of total	(annual	(constant 2011
					labor force)	%)	international \$)
Spain	2007	w5	10.0	10.0	8.2	2.8	33,494
Spain	2011	w6	5.3	5.2	21.4	3.2	31,511
Sweden	1999	w4	17.9	17.9	7.6	0.5	35,171
Sweden	2011	w6	18.4	18.4	7.8	3.0	44,722
Switzerland	1989	w2	17.1	18.0	1.8	3.2	48,832
Switzerland	2007	w5	18.7	18.7	3.7	0.7	56,263
Turkey	1990	w2	16.8	15.7	8.2	60.3	11,212
Turkey	2001	w4	11.1	10.5	8.4	54.4	12,518
Turkey	2007	w5	10.7	10.4	8.9	8.8	17,730
Turkey	2011	w6	9.9	9.7	8.8	6.5	19,490
United States	1999	w4	9.4	9.3	4.2	2.2	44,910
United States	2011	w6	3.7	3.6	8.9	3.2	50,705

Data Group	Number of individuals		Data Group	Number of individuals	
	surveye	surveyed		survey	yed
Group 1	Wave 2	Wave 4	Group 4	Wave 4	Wave 6
Argentina	992	1,268	Argentina	1,268	1,020
Chile	1,496	1,193	Chile	1,193	988
China	996	991	China	991	2,252
India	2,461	1,980	Egypt	2,998	1,523
Mexico	1,514	1,506	India	1,980	4,054
Nigeria	997	2,022	Japan	1,316	2,381
South Africa	2,696	2,995	Jordan	1,216	1,200
South Korea	1,226	1,173	Kyrgyzstan	1,043	1,490
Spain	1,499	1,205	Mexico	1,506	2,000
Turkey	1,027	3,400	Morocco	1,251	1,173
Group 2	Wave 2	Wave 5	Nigeria	2,022	1,759
Argentina	992	995	Pakistan	1,693	1,200
Brazil	1,770	1,495	Peru	1,490	1,206
Chile	1,496	992	Philippines	1,200	1,200
China	996	1,937	Singapore	1,512	1,971
India	2,461	1,953	South Africa	2,995	3,521
Mexico	1,514	1,512	South Korea	1,173	1,189
South Africa	2,696	2,977	Spain	1,205	1,168
South Korea	1,226	1,197	Sweden	1,012	1,204
Spain	1,499	1,195	Turkey	3,400	1,601
Switzerland	1,400	1,232	United States	1,200	2,216
Turkey	1,027	1,346			
Group 3	Wave 2	Wave 6			
Argentina	992	1,020			
Brazil	1,770	1,483			
Chile	1,496	988			
China	996	2,252			
India	2,461	4,054			
Mexico	1,514	2,000			
Nigeria	997	1,759			
South Africa	2,696	3,521			
South Korea	1,226	1,189			
Spain	1,499	1,168			
Turkev	1.027	1.601			

Count of individuals surveyed by country in each wave.

Count of individuals surveyed by country and by group in each time-period (for pseudo-panel model)

Country		15-29	15-29	30-44	30-44	45-59	45-59	60+	60+
J	wave	female	male	female	male	female	male	female	male
Argentina	2	137	131	149	136	135	106	100	98
Argentina	4	195	197	196	156	142	133	142	107
Argentina	5	148	149	147	127	125	90	110	99
Argentina	6	136	146	156	134	123	102	126	97
Brazil	2	345	343	206	221	330	325		
Brazil	5	263	195	296	195	203	143	110	89
Brazil	6	245	147	290	147	242	148	148	116
Chile	2	276	262	250	231	143	135	116	83
Chile	4	163	165	225	193	135	119	104	89
Chile	5	141	122	180	134	124	103	100	88
Chile	6	105	125	150	129	146	136	100	97
China	2	122	179	118	183	119	175	39	59
China	4	108	85	229	210	133	158	33	35
China	5	172	126	396	289	324	313	160	157
China	6	241	215	364	371	312	311	227	211
Egypt	4	543	476	534	529	264	310	119	219
Egynt	6	298	124	365	147	233	129	137	90
India	2	400	533	488	464	150	170	101	155
India	4	242	298	323	440	174	239	111	145
India	5	183	253	338	438	202	274	111	151
India	6	404	553	682	851	450	530	234	319
Ianan	4	138	107	205	168	185	161	175	177
Japan	6	147	146	312	299	339	295	431	412
Jordan	4	245	239	258	174	90	101	32	77
Jordan	6	140	208	255	175	152	116	53	101
Kvrøvzstan	4	218	174	200	174	89	74	70	43
Kyrgyzstan	6	254	238	246	222	207	197	52	74
Mexico	2	329	200 341	199	295	124	149	34	43
Mexico	4	275	277	280	237	137	147	69	79
Mexico	5	247	254	268	232	154	172	95	90
Mexico	6	295	388	331	304	182	193	93	114
Morocco	4	303	295	225	218	89	83	15	19
Morocco	6	240	242	188	178	99	110	59	57
Nigeria	2	230	306	128	216	23	58	19	17
Nigeria	4	532	564	364	354	81	91	13	23
Nigeria	6	522	470	239	288	83	91	27	39
Pakistan	4	287	284	420	314	93	194	17	84
Pakistan	6	229	201	264	241	68	123	17	31
Peru	4	303	298	250	235	176	151	32	45
Peru	6	198	211	199	183	128	110	76	101
Philippines	4	196	206	219	206	116	116	69	72
Philippines	6	133	149	226	171	148	176	93	104
Singanore	4	336	358	249	220	146	108	59	36
Singanore	6	284	290	315	251	255	206	210	127
South Africa	2	<u>4</u> 72	<u>1</u> 02	579	262	202	200	147	142
South $\Delta frica$	<u></u> Δ.	т/J 517	557	520	500	370	230	157	100
South $\Delta frice$	т 5	512	537	103 102	1.7 <i>1</i> .	300	249	195	211
South Africa	6	621	695	-00 649	597	348	222	144	125
South Koroa	U	041	0,0	010	577	540	555	1.1.1	100
	2	183	212	245	225	171	92	50	37

Country	wave	15-29 fomalo	15-29	30-44	30-44	45-59	45-59	60+ fomalo	60+
South Koroa	5	121	147	220	222	1/2	122	07	
South Korea	5	110	147	107	200	143	168	127	93
South Korea	2	106	216	222	190	176	100	217	168
Spain	2 4	130	145	166	169	170	104	193	100
Snain	5	136	138	159	180	127	125	180	153
Snain	6	117	114	179	185	128	120	174	151
Sweden	4	104	120	140	141	155	135	110	107
Sweden	6	167	137	118	123	151	121	199	188
Switzerland	2	133	122	252	221	158	125	215	173
Switzerland	5	57	44	192	132	197	163	231	216
Turkey	2	206	191	171	176	100	97	38	42
Turkey	4	609	637	659	608	307	292	121	163
Turkey	5	274	268	233	224	128	114	35	70
Turkey	6	240	269	322	274	173	163	89	71
United States	4	148	158	247	153	183	112	114	85
United States	6	198	192	246	244	347	324	352	313

Results from estimating model (1) which does not deal with the endogeneity issues, are shown in this section of the appendix. Note that the coefficient on ANS changes sign in some cases, relative to Tables 6 – 9 which do account for endogeneity, demonstrating that prior studies which use current ANS and SWB are likely to have produced biased estimates. See the Notes for Table 5.

Table F1	Group	1 (W	ave 2	and 4)
----------	-------	------	-------	-------	---

	Dependent variable: SWB				
	Panel model				
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM			
	(1)	(2)			
cr_Chile	0.01 (0.14)	0.02 (0.14)			
cr_China	-3.12*** (0.27)	-3.12*** (0.27)			
cr_India	-4.38*** (0.28)	-4.39*** (0.28)			
cr_Mexico	0.95*** (0.22)	0.93*** (0.22)			
cr_Nigeria	-3.39*** (0.26)	-3.37*** (0.26)			
cr_South Africa	-2.03*** (0.24)	-2.02*** (0.24)			
cr_South Korea	-0.33 (0.23)	-0.36 (0.23)			
cr_Spain	0.94*** (0.14)	0.91*** (0.14)			
cr_Turkey	-1.35*** (0.09)	-1.37*** (0.09)			
wave4	-0.27*** (0.05)	-0.26*** (0.04)			
age	-0.06*** (0.01)	-0.06*** (0.01)			
age_squared	0.001*** (0.0001)	0.001*** (0.0001)			
age_na	-1.28*** (0.43)	-1.28*** (0.43)			
sex_Female	0.08*** (0.03)	0.08*** (0.03)			
sex_Missing	-0.25* (0.15)	-0.25 (0.15)			
ms_Divorced	-0.66*** (0.08)	-0.66*** (0.08)			
ms_Single	-0.55*** (0.07)	-0.55*** (0.07)			
ms_Widowed	-0.35*** (0.04)	-0.35*** (0.04)			
ms_Missing	-0.14 (0.39)	-0.14 (0.39)			
es_Unemployed	-0.08 (0.07)	-0.08 (0.07)			
es_Housewife	0.21*** (0.04)	0.21*** (0.04)			
es_Student	-0.10* (0.05)	-0.10** (0.05)			
es_Retired	-0.68*** (0.05)	-0.68*** (0.05)			
es_Other	-0.01 (0.12)	-0.02 (0.12)			
es_Missing	-0.52*** (0.10)	-0.52*** (0.10)			
in_second step	0.12* (0.06)	0.12* (0.06)			
in_Third step	0.37*** (0.06)	0.37*** (0.06)			
in_Fourth step	0.69*** (0.06)	0.69*** (0.06)			
in_Fifth step	0.92*** (0.06)	0.92*** (0.06)			
in_Sixth step	1.09*** (0.07)	1.08*** (0.07)			
in_Seventh step	1.22*** (0.07)	1.22*** (0.07)			
in_Eigth step	1.42*** (0.07)	1.41*** (0.07)			
in_Nineth step	1.38*** (0.09)	1.38*** (0.09)			
in_Tenth step	1.38*** (0.10)	1.38*** (0.10)			

in_Missing	0.87*** (0.07)	0.87*** (0.07)
ed_Primary	0.20*** (0.07)	0.20*** (0.07)
ed_Secondary	0.41*** (0.07)	0.41*** (0.07)
ed_University	0.58*** (0.07)	0.58*** (0.07)
ed_Missing	-0.28*** (0.09)	-0.27*** (0.09)
ANS_inc_pm	0.01** (0.01)	
ANS_exc_pm		0.02*** (0.01)
Unemp	0.05** (0.02)	0.05** (0.02)
Inflation_rate	0.002* (0.001)	0.002* (0.001)
log(GNI_PPP)	-1.79*** (0.12)	-1.77*** (0.12)
Constant	24.24*** (1.14)	24.02*** (1.15)
Observations	32,637	32,637
R ²	0.13	0.13
Adjusted R ²	0.13	0.13
Residual Std. Error	2.31	2.31
F Statistic	110.57***	110.62***

Table F2 Group 2 (Wave 2 and 5)

	Dependent variable: SWB					
	Panel model					
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM				
	(1)	(2)				
cr_Brazil	0.17* (0.09)	0.20** (0.09)				
cr_Chile	-0.33*** (0.07)	-0.35*** (0.07)				
cr_China	-0.70*** (0.19)	-0.42** (0.20)				
cr_India	-2.05*** (0.19)	-1.78*** (0.20)				
cr_Mexico	0.35*** (0.08)	0.40*** (0.08)				
cr_South Africa	-0.82*** (0.17)	-0.92*** (0.17)				
cr_South Korea	-0.62*** (0.11)	-0.49*** (0.11)				
cr_Spain	0.43*** (0.09)	0.41*** (0.09)				
cr_Switzerland	1.52*** (0.12)	1.57*** (0.13)				
cr_Turkey	-0.20** (0.08)	-0.13 (0.08)				
wave5	0.34*** (0.05)	0.32*** (0.05)				
age	-0.03*** (0.01)	-0.03*** (0.01)				
age_squared	0.0004*** (0.0001)	0.0004*** (0.0001)				
age_na	-0.93 (0.79)	-0.91 (0.79)				
sex_Female	0.03 (0.03)	0.04 (0.03)				
sex_Missing	-1.08** (0.53)	-1.10** (0.52)				
ms_Divorced	-0.61*** (0.06)	-0.61*** (0.06)				
ms_Single	-0.41*** (0.06)	-0.41*** (0.06)				
ms_Widowed	-0.31*** (0.04)	-0.32*** (0.04)				
ms_Missing	-0.18 (0.29)	-0.17 (0.29)				
es_Unemployed	-0.05 (0.06)	-0.05 (0.06)				
es_Housewife	0.12*** (0.04)	0.12*** (0.04)				
es_Student	-0.06 (0.05)	-0.05 (0.05)				
es_Retired	-0.58*** (0.05)	-0.58*** (0.05)				
es_Other	-0.34*** (0.10)	-0.34*** (0.10)				

es_Missing	0.09 (0.08)	$0.14^{*}(0.08)$
in_second step	0.07 (0.06)	0.07 (0.06)
in_Third step	0.19*** (0.05)	0.20*** (0.05)
in_Fourth step	0.45*** (0.05)	0.45*** (0.05)
in_Fifth step	0.59*** (0.05)	0.59*** (0.05)
in_Sixth step	0.74*** (0.06)	0.74*** (0.06)
in_Seventh step	0.98*** (0.06)	0.99*** (0.06)
in_Eigth step	1.09*** (0.07)	1.10*** (0.07)
in_Nineth step	1.04*** (0.09)	1.04*** (0.09)
in_Tenth step	0.96*** (0.09)	0.96*** (0.09)
in_Missing	0.58*** (0.06)	0.58*** (0.06)
ed_Primary	0.33*** (0.07)	0.32*** (0.07)
ed_Secondary	0.60*** (0.07)	0.59*** (0.07)
ed_University	0.67*** (0.07)	0.66*** (0.07)
ed_Missing	0.32*** (0.08)	0.30*** (0.08)
ANS_inc_pm	-0.03*** (0.01)	
ANS_exc_pm		-0.05*** (0.01)
Unemp	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)
Inflation_rate	0.0002 (0.0002)	0.0003 (0.0002)
log(GNI_PPP)	-0.64*** (0.08)	-0.60*** (0.08)
Constant	13.62*** (0.73)	13.31*** (0.72)
Observations	33,908	33,908
R ²	0.10	0.10
Adjusted R ²	0.10	0.10
Residual Std. Error	2.17	2.17
F Statistic	89.81***	90.28***

Table F3 Group 3 (Wave 2 and 6)

	Dependent variable: SWB Panel model	
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM
	(1)	(2)
cr_Brazil	-0.02 (0.09)	-0.02 (0.09)
cr_Chile	-0.21*** (0.08)	-0.21*** (0.08)
cr_China	-2.14*** (0.16)	-2.15*** (0.16)
cr_India	-3.66*** (0.22)	-3.67*** (0.22)
cr_Mexico	0.11 (0.09)	0.11 (0.09)
cr_Nigeria	-2.97*** (0.14)	-2.98*** (0.14)
cr_South Africa	3.25*** (0.44)	3.25*** (0.43)
cr_South Korea	-1.66*** (0.12)	-1.67*** (0.12)
cr_Spain	3.66*** (0.38)	3.66*** (0.38)
cr_Turkey	-0.36*** (0.11)	-0.36*** (0.10)
wave6	0.75*** (0.07)	0.76*** (0.07)
age	-0.02*** (0.005)	-0.02*** (0.005)
age_squared	0.0003*** (0.0001)	0.0003*** (0.0001)
age_na	0.83** (0.39)	0.83** (0.39)
sex_Female	0.02 (0.03)	0.02 (0.03)

sex_Missing	-0.34 (0.53)	-0.34 (0.53)
ms_Divorced	-0.46*** (0.06)	-0.46*** (0.06)
ms_Single	-0.37*** (0.06)	-0.37*** (0.06)
ms_Widowed	-0.28*** (0.03)	-0.28*** (0.03)
ms_Missing	-0.29 (0.36)	-0.29 (0.36)
es_Unemployed	-0.07 (0.06)	-0.07 (0.06)
es_Housewife	0.08** (0.04)	0.08** (0.04)
es_Student	0.07 (0.05)	0.07 (0.05)
es_Retired	-0.48*** (0.04)	-0.48*** (0.04)
es_Other	-0.07 (0.08)	-0.07 (0.08)
es_Missing	-0.32*** (0.08)	-0.32*** (0.07)
in_second step	0.08 (0.06)	0.08 (0.06)
in_Third step	0.21*** (0.05)	0.21*** (0.05)
in_Fourth step	0.42*** (0.05)	0.42*** (0.05)
in_Fifth step	0.63*** (0.05)	0.63*** (0.05)
in_Sixth step	0.84*** (0.05)	0.84*** (0.05)
in_Seventh step	1.13*** (0.06)	1.13*** (0.06)
in_Eigth step	1.45*** (0.06)	1.45*** (0.06)
in_Nineth step	1.60*** (0.09)	1.60*** (0.09)
in_Tenth step	1.74*** (0.11)	1.74*** (0.11)
in_Missing	0.63*** (0.07)	0.63*** (0.07)
ed_Primary	0.24*** (0.06)	0.24*** (0.06)
ed_Secondary	0.42*** (0.06)	0.42*** (0.06)
ed_University	0.54*** (0.06)	0.54*** (0.06)
ed_Missing	-0.40*** (0.10)	-0.40*** (0.10)
ANS_inc_pm	0.003 (0.004)	
ANS_exc_pm		0.003 (0.004)
Unemp	-0.26*** (0.03)	-0.26*** (0.03)
Inflation_rate	0.002*** (0.0004)	0.002*** (0.0004)
log(GNI_PPP)	-1.14*** (0.08)	-1.14*** (0.08)
Constant	19.56*** (0.85)	19.57*** (0.85)
Observations	37,709	37,709
R ²	0.10	0.10
Adjusted R ²	0.10	0.10
Residual Std. Error	2.16	2.16
F Statistic	99.84***	99.84***

Table F4 Group 4 (Wave 4 and 6)

	Dependent variable: SWB	
	Pane	el model
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM
	(1)	(2)
cr_Chile	-0.40*** (0.08)	-0.42*** (0.08)
cr_China	-0.94*** (0.13)	-0.82*** (0.13)
cr_Egypt	-2.14*** (0.10)	-2.09*** (0.10)
cr_India	-1.44*** (0.18)	-1.30*** (0.18)
cr_Japan	-1.17*** (0.10)	-1.22*** (0.10)

cr_Jordan	-0.97*** (0.11)	-0.88*** (0.11)
cr_Kyrgyzstan	-0.84^{***} (0.18)	-0.79*** (0.18)
cr_Mexico	0.64*** (0.09)	0.63*** (0.09)
cr_Morocco	-0.97*** (0.17)	-0.80*** (0.17)
cr_Nigeria	-1.07*** (0.16)	-0.99*** (0.16)
cr_Pakistan	-1.61*** (0.15)	-1.49*** (0.16)
cr_Peru	-0.75*** (0.11)	-0.73*** (0.11)
cr_Philippines	-0.12 (0.17)	0.07 (0.17)
cr_Singapore	-0.54*** (0.13)	-0.46*** (0.13)
cr_South Africa	-0.04 (0.10)	0.01 (0.11)
cr_South Korea	-1.38*** (0.09)	-1.36*** (0.09)
cr_Spain	-0.09 (0.09)	-0.08 (0.09)
cr_Sweden	-0.04 (0.09)	-0.03 (0.09)
cr_Turkey	-0.65*** (0.08)	-0.64*** (0.08)
cr_United States	-0.40*** (0.12)	-0.48*** (0.11)
wave6	0.35*** (0.03)	0.33*** (0.03)
age	-0.05*** (0.004)	-0.05*** (0.004)
age_squared	0.001*** (0.0000)	0.001*** (0.0000)
age_na	-0.65*** (0.23)	-0.63*** (0.23)
sex_Female	0.05** (0.02)	0.05** (0.02)
sex_Missing	-0.49 (1.01)	-0.49 (1.00)
ms_Divorced	-0.51*** (0.05)	-0.51*** (0.05)
ms_Single	-0.32*** (0.05)	-0.32*** (0.05)
ms Widowed	-0.25*** (0.03)	-0.25*** (0.03)
ms Missing	-0.35** (0.17)	-0.34** (0.17)
es Unemployed	-0.01 (0.04)	-0.01 (0.04)
es Housewife	0.14*** (0.03)	0.14*** (0.03)
es Student	0.01 (0.03)	0.01 (0.03)
es Retired	-0.40*** (0.03)	-0.40*** (0.03)
es Other	-0.04 (0.06)	-0.04 (0.06)
es Missing	-0.32*** (0.07)	-0.33*** (0.07)
in second sten	$0.12^{**}(0.05)$	0.11** (0.05)
in Third step	0.12 (0.05)	0.19*** (0.05)
in Fourth step	0.53*** (0.04)	0.53*** (0.04)
in Fifth sten	0.70*** (0.04)	0.70*** (0.04)
in Sivth step	0.95*** (0.04)	0.95*** (0.04)
in Seventh step	1 19*** (0.05)	1 20*** (0.05)
in Figth step	$1.19^{(0.05)}$ $1.44^{***} (0.05)$	1.20 (0.05)
in Ninoth stop	1.49*** (0.05)	1.44 (0.05)
in Tonth stop	1.40 (0.00)	1.49 (0.00)
in Missing	1.73 (0.07)	1.73 (0.07)
od Primary	0.02 (0.03)	0.02 (0.03)
ed_Finiary	0.20 (0.04)	0.20 (0.04)
ed_Secondary	0.29 (0.04)	0.29 (0.04)
ed_University	0.33 (0.04)	0.34 (0.04)
ed_missing	0.42 (0.11)	0.42 (0.11)
ANS and and	-0.02 (0.005)	በ በጋ*** (ባ ባለኖነ
ANS_exc_pm	0.0(*** (0.01)	-0.02 (0.005)
Unemp	-0.06*** (0.01)	-0.07*** (0.001)
inflation_rate	-0.01*** (0.001)	-0.01*** (0.001)
log(GNI_PPP)	0.05 (0.09)	0.10 (0.09)
Constant	7.74*** (0.83)	7.38*** (0.83)

Observations	69,980	69,980	
R ²	0.14	0.14	
Adjusted R ²	0.14	0.14	
Residual Std. Error	2.23	2.23	
F Statistic	216.85***	217.11***	_

Appendix Table G: Ordered logit model results

Table G1 Group 1 (Wave 2 and 4)

life_satisfaction ANS INC PM ANS EXC PM (1) (2) age -0.06*** (0.01) -0.06*** (0.01) age_squared 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.000 age_na -1.49*** (0.41) -1.48*** (0.41)
ANS INC PM ANS EXC PM (1) (2) age -0.06*** (0.01) -0.06*** (0.01) age_squared 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.000 age_na -1.49*** (0.41) -1.48*** (0.41)
(1) (2) age -0.06*** (0.01) -0.06*** (0.01) age_squared 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.000) age_na -1.49*** (0.41) -1.48*** (0.41)
age-0.06*** (0.01)-0.06*** (0.01)age_squared0.001*** (0.0001)0.001*** (0.000)age_na-1.49*** (0.41)-1.48*** (0.41)
age_squared0.001*** (0.0001)0.001*** (0.000age_na-1.49*** (0.41)-1.48*** (0.41)
age_na -1.49*** (0.41) -1.48*** (0.41)
sex_Female 0.09*** (0.03) 0.09*** (0.03)
ms_Divorced -0.45*** (0.08) -0.45*** (0.08)
ms_Single -0.42*** (0.07) -0.42*** (0.07)
ms_Widowed -0.22*** (0.04) -0.22*** (0.04)
ms_Missing -0.18 (0.43) -0.18 (0.43)
es_Unemployed 0.01 (0.07) 0.01 (0.07)
es_Housewife 0.18*** (0.04) 0.18*** (0.04)
es_Student -0.20*** (0.05) -0.19*** (0.05)
es_Retired -0.50*** (0.05) -0.49*** (0.05)
es_Other -0.27** (0.11) -0.27** (0.11)
es_Missing -0.02 (0.13) -0.02 (0.13)
in_second step 0.03 (0.06) 0.03 (0.06)
in_Third step 0.17*** (0.06) 0.17*** (0.06)
in_Fourth step 0.50*** (0.06) 0.51*** (0.06)
in_Fifth step 0.71*** (0.07) 0.71*** (0.07)
in_Sixth step 0.92*** (0.07) 0.91*** (0.07)
in_Seventh step 1.05*** (0.07) 1.05*** (0.07)
in_Eigth step 1.27*** (0.08) 1.27*** (0.08)
in_Nineth step 1.29*** (0.09) 1.29*** (0.09)
in_Tenth step 1.37*** (0.10) 1.37*** (0.10)
in_Missing 0.90*** (0.07) 0.90*** (0.07)
ed_Primary 0.29*** (0.05) 0.29*** (0.05)
ed_Secondary 0.25*** (0.06) 0.25*** (0.06)
ed_University 0.22*** (0.06) 0.22*** (0.06)
ed_Missing 0.37*** (0.12) 0.37*** (0.12)
swb_t0 0.31*** (0.03) 0.29*** (0.03)
ANS_inc_pm -0.03*** (0.002)
ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.002
Unemp -0.04*** (0.002) -0.04*** (0.002
Inflation_rate 0.0001 (0.0004) 0.0000 (0.0004
log(GNI_PPP) 0.45*** (0.02) 0.42*** (0.02)
Observations 17,733 17,733
Log Likelihood -37,156.00 -37,150.73
Note: *p**p**

Ilife_satisfaction ANS INC PM ANS EXC PM (1) (2) age -0.04*** (0.01) -0.04*** (0.01) age_na -2.35** (1.02) -2.32** (1.03) sex_Female 0.10*** (0.03) 0.10*** (0.03) sex_Missing -0.30 (1.27) -0.27 (1.27) ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.06) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.05) es_Tdusewife 0.08* (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Gther -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.44*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_fith step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 1.04*** (0.08)		Dependent variable:	
ANS INC PM ANS EXC PM (1) (2) age -0.04*** (0.01) -0.04*** (0.01) age_squared 0.0004*** (0.0001) 0.0004*** (0.0001) age_na -2.35** (1.02) -2.32** (1.03) sex_Female 0.10*** (0.03) 0.10*** (0.03) sex_Missing -0.30 (1.27) -0.27 (1.27) ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.07) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) -0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.44*** (0.09) -0.35*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_fourth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Sing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06)		life_satisfaction	
(1) (2) age -0.04*** (0.01) -0.04*** (0.01) age_squared 0.0004*** (0.001) 0.0004*** (0.001) age_na -2.35** (1.02) -2.32** (1.03) sex_Female 0.10*** (0.03) 0.10*** (0.03) sex_Missing -0.30 (1.27) -0.27 (1.27) ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.06) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.05) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) 0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Sixth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Fifth step 1.04**** (0.08) 1.04****		ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM
age -0.04*** (0.01) -0.04*** (0.01) age_squared 0.0004*** (0.001) 0.0004*** (0.001) age_na -2.35** (1.02) -2.32** (1.03) sex_Female 0.10*** (0.03) 0.10*** (0.03) sex_Missing -0.30 (1.27) -0.27 (1.27) ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.07) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.44*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.20*** (0.06) 0.21*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Sixth st		(1)	(2)
age_squared 0.0004*** (0.0001) 0.0004*** (0.0001) age_na -2.35** (1.02) -2.32** (1.03) sex_Female 0.10*** (0.03) 0.10*** (0.03) sex_Missing -0.30 (1.27) -0.27 (1.27) ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.06) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.05) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) 0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Other -0.44*** (0.05) -0.40*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.44*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.44*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.20*** (0.06) 0.21*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sig 0.53*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04**** (0.08) in_Tenth	ige	-0.04*** (0.01)	-0.04*** (0.01)
age_na -2.35** (1.02) -2.32** (1.03) sex_Female 0.10*** (0.03) 0.10*** (0.03) sex_Missing -0.30 (1.27) -0.27 (1.27) ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.06) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.05) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) 0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Other -0.44*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.09) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Sing 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Fifth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04**** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12**** (0.12) in_Fifth ste	ige_squared	0.0004*** (0.0001)	0.0004*** (0.0001)
sex_Female 0.10*** (0.03) 0.10*** (0.03) sex_Missing -0.30 (1.27) -0.27 (1.27) ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.06) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.05) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Ektiged -0.41*** (0.05) -0.40*** (0.05) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.09) in_second step 0.12** (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_T	ige_na	-2.35** (1.02)	-2.32** (1.03)
sex_Missing -0.30 (1.27) -0.27 (1.27) ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.07) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.06) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Other -0.44*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.20*** (0.06) 0.21*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eight step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Tenth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.04*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.66)	ex_Female	0.10*** (0.03)	0.10*** (0.03)
ms_Divorced -0.36*** (0.06) -0.37*** (0.06) ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.06) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.33*** (0.06) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Tenth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.04*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) e	ex_Missing	-0.30 (1.27)	-0.27 (1.27)
ms_Single -0.35*** (0.07) -0.35*** (0.07) ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.06) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Cher -0.41*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.09) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.01*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07)	ns_Divorced	-0.36*** (0.06)	-0.37*** (0.06)
ms_Widowed -0.20*** (0.04) -0.20*** (0.04) ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.05) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) 0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Retired -0.41*** (0.05) -0.40*** (0.09) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.06) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.04*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07)	ns_Single	-0.35*** (0.07)	-0.35*** (0.07)
ms_Missing 0.07 (0.28) 0.08 (0.28) es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.06) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) 0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Retired -0.41*** (0.05) -0.40*** (0.09) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.09) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.04*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0	ns_Widowed	-0.20*** (0.04)	-0.20*** (0.04)
es_Unemployed 0.07 (0.06) 0.07 (0.06) es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) 0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Retired -0.41*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.09) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.20*** (0.06) 0.21*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Tenth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003)	ns_Missing	0.07 (0.28)	0.08 (0.28)
es_Housewife 0.08* (0.05) 0.07 (0.05) es_Student -0.33*** (0.05) -0.32*** (0.05) es_Retired -0.41*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.09) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Tenth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.13*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_inc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) <td>es_Unemployed</td> <td>0.07 (0.06)</td> <td>0.07 (0.06)</td>	es_Unemployed	0.07 (0.06)	0.07 (0.06)
es_Student -0.33^{***} (0.05) -0.32^{***} (0.05)es_Retired -0.41^{***} (0.09) -0.40^{***} (0.09)es_Other -0.54^{***} (0.09) -0.52^{***} (0.09)es_Missing -0.40^{***} (0.09) -0.38^{***} (0.09)in_second step 0.12^* (0.06) 0.13^{**} (0.06)in_Fourth step 0.20^{***} (0.06) 0.21^{***} (0.06)in_Fourth step 0.34^{***} (0.06) 0.35^{***} (0.06)in_Sixth step 0.57^{***} (0.06) 0.76^{***} (0.06)in_Seventh step 0.98^{***} (0.07) 0.99^{***} (0.07)in_Eigth step 1.04^{***} (0.08) 1.04^{***} (0.08)in_Nineth step 1.13^{***} (0.12) 1.12^{***} (0.11)in_Missing 0.53^{***} (0.06) 0.39^{***} (0.06)ed_Secondary 0.38^{***} (0.06) 0.37^{***} (0.06)ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22)swb_t0 -0.30^{***} (0.03) -0.36^{***} (0.03)ANS_exc_pm -0.05^{***} (0.003) -0.03^{***} (0.003)Inflation_rate 0.001^{***} (0.02) 0.31^{***} (0.22)	es_Housewife	0.08* (0.05)	0.07 (0.05)
es_Retired -0.41*** (0.05) -0.40*** (0.05) es_Other -0.54*** (0.09) -0.52*** (0.09) es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.09) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Third step 0.20*** (0.06) 0.21*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.04*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.21) <	es_Student	-0.33*** (0.05)	-0.32*** (0.05)
es_Other -0.54^{***} (0.09) -0.52^{***} (0.09)es_Missing -0.40^{***} (0.09) -0.38^{***} (0.09)in_second step 0.12^* (0.06) 0.13^{**} (0.06)in_Third step 0.20^{***} (0.06) 0.21^{***} (0.06)in_Fourth step 0.34^{***} (0.06) 0.35^{***} (0.06)in_Fifth step 0.57^{***} (0.06) 0.58^{***} (0.06)in_Sixth step 0.75^{***} (0.06) 0.76^{***} (0.06)in_Seventh step 0.98^{***} (0.07) 0.99^{***} (0.07)in_Eigth step 1.04^{***} (0.08) 1.04^{***} (0.08)in_Nineth step 1.13^{***} (0.12) 1.12^{***} (0.12)in_Tenth step 1.10^{***} (0.06) 0.30^{***} (0.06)ed_Primary 0.31^{***} (0.06) 0.37^{***} (0.06)ed_Secondary 0.38^{***} (0.07) 0.22^{***} (0.07)ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22)swb_t0 -0.30^{***} (0.04) -0.36^{***} (0.03)ANS_exc_pm -0.05^{***} (0.003) -0.03^{***} (0.003)Inflation_rate 0.001^{***} (0.001) 0.001^{***} (0.001)log(GNI PPP) 0.34^{***} (0.02) 0.31^{***} (0.02)	es_Retired	-0.41*** (0.05)	-0.40*** (0.05)
es_Missing -0.40*** (0.09) -0.38*** (0.09) in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Third step 0.20*** (0.06) 0.21*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.01) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.21)	es_Other	-0.54*** (0.09)	-0.52*** (0.09)
in_second step 0.12* (0.06) 0.13** (0.06) in_Third step 0.20*** (0.06) 0.21*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.11) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_exc_pm -0.05*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.21)	es_Missing	-0.40*** (0.09)	-0.38*** (0.09)
in_Third step 0.20*** (0.06) 0.21*** (0.06) in_Fourth step 0.34*** (0.06) 0.35*** (0.06) in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.01) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_exc_pm -0.05*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) MNS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001)	n_second step	0.12* (0.06)	0.13** (0.06)
in_Fourth step 0.34^{***} (0.06) 0.35^{***} (0.06)in_Fifth step 0.57^{***} (0.06) 0.58^{***} (0.06)in_Sixth step 0.75^{***} (0.06) 0.76^{***} (0.06)in_Seventh step 0.98^{***} (0.07) 0.99^{***} (0.07)in_Eigth step 1.04^{***} (0.08) 1.04^{***} (0.08)in_Nineth step 1.13^{***} (0.12) 1.12^{***} (0.12)in_Tenth step 1.10^{***} (0.11) 1.06^{***} (0.11)in_Missing 0.53^{***} (0.06) 0.49^{***} (0.06)ed_Primary 0.31^{***} (0.06) 0.30^{***} (0.06)ed_Secondary 0.38^{***} (0.06) 0.37^{***} (0.06)ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22)swb_t0 -0.30^{***} (0.04) -0.36^{***} (0.03)ANS_exc_pm -0.04^{***} (0.003) -0.03^{***} (0.003)Unemp -0.03^{***} (0.001) 0.001^{***} (0.002)lnflation_rate 0.001^{***} (0.02) 0.31^{***} (0.02)	n_Third step	0.20*** (0.06)	0.21*** (0.06)
in_Fifth step 0.57*** (0.06) 0.58*** (0.06) in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.11) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_exc_pm -0.05*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	n_Fourth step	0.34*** (0.06)	0.35*** (0.06)
in_Sixth step 0.75*** (0.06) 0.76*** (0.06) in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.11) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.21)	n_Fifth step	0.57*** (0.06)	0.58*** (0.06)
in_Seventh step 0.98*** (0.07) 0.99*** (0.07) in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.11) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.21)	n_Sixth step	0.75*** (0.06)	0.76*** (0.06)
in_Eigth step 1.04*** (0.08) 1.04*** (0.08) in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.11) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.2)	n_Seventh step	0.98*** (0.07)	0.99*** (0.07)
in_Nineth step 1.13*** (0.12) 1.12*** (0.12) in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.11) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.2)	n_Eigth step	1.04*** (0.08)	1.04*** (0.08)
in_Tenth step 1.10*** (0.11) 1.06*** (0.11) in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	n_Nineth step	1.13*** (0.12)	1.12*** (0.12)
in_Missing 0.53*** (0.06) 0.49*** (0.06) ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	n_Tenth step	1.10*** (0.11)	1.06*** (0.11)
ed_Primary 0.31*** (0.06) 0.30*** (0.06) ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	n_Missing	0.53*** (0.06)	0.49*** (0.06)
ed_Secondary 0.38*** (0.06) 0.37*** (0.06) ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	ed_Primary	0.31*** (0.06)	0.30*** (0.06)
ed_University 0.22*** (0.07) 0.22*** (0.07) ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	ed_Secondary	0.38*** (0.06)	0.37*** (0.06)
ed_Missing -0.05 (0.22) -0.05 (0.22) swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) -0.05*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.0001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	ed_University	0.22*** (0.07)	0.22*** (0.07)
swb_t0 -0.30*** (0.04) -0.36*** (0.04) ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.05*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.0001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02)	ed_Missing	-0.05 (0.22)	-0.05 (0.22)
ANS_inc_pm -0.04*** (0.003) ANS_exc_pm -0.05*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.0001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	wb_t0	-0.30*** (0.04)	-0.36*** (0.04)
ANS_exc_pm -0.05*** (0.003) Unemp -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.0001 log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	ANS_inc_pm	-0.04*** (0.003)	
Unemp -0.03*** (0.003) -0.03*** (0.003) Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.0001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	ANS_exc_pm		-0.05*** (0.003)
Inflation_rate 0.001*** (0.0001) 0.001*** (0.0001) log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	Jnemp	-0.03*** (0.003)	-0.03*** (0.003)
log(GNI PPP) 0.34*** (0.02) 0.31*** (0.02)	nflation_rate	0.001*** (0.0001)	0.001*** (0.0001)
	og(GNI_PPP)	0.34*** (0.02)	0.31*** (0.02)
Observations 16,831 16,831)bservations	16,831	16,831
Log Likelihood -33,564.99 -33,541.91	og Likelihood	-33,564.99	-33,541.91
<i>Note:</i> *p**p***	Vote:		*p**p***p<0.0

Table G2 Group 2 (Wave 2 and 5)

Table G3 Group 3 (Wave 2 and 6)

	Dependent variable:	
	life_satisfaction	
	ANS INC PM	ANS EXC PM
	(1)	(2)
age	-0.02*** (0.01)	-0.02*** (0.01)
age_squared	0.0002*** (0.0001)	0.0002*** (0.0001)
age_na	0.62* (0.37)	0.62* (0.37)
sex_Female	0.01 (0.03)	0.01 (0.03)
sex_Missing	-0.42 (0.94)	-0.42 (0.94)
ms_Divorced	-0.24*** (0.07)	-0.24*** (0.07)
ms_Single	-0.25*** (0.07)	-0.25*** (0.07)
ms_Widowed	-0.17*** (0.04)	-0.17*** (0.04)
ms_Missing	-1.04*** (0.39)	-1.04*** (0.39)
es_Unemployed	-0.03 (0.06)	-0.03 (0.06)
es_Housewife	0.03 (0.04)	0.03 (0.04)
es_Student	-0.05 (0.06)	-0.05 (0.06)
es_Retired	-0.27*** (0.04)	-0.27*** (0.04)
es_Other	-0.22*** (0.07)	-0.22*** (0.07)
es_Missing	-0.35*** (0.06)	-0.35*** (0.06)
in_second step	-0.17*** (0.07)	-0.17*** (0.07)
in_Third step	-0.34*** (0.06)	-0.34*** (0.06)
in_Fourth step	-0.22*** (0.06)	-0.22*** (0.06)
in_Fifth step	-0.03 (0.06)	-0.03 (0.06)
in_Sixth step	0.16*** (0.06)	0.16*** (0.06)
in_Seventh step	0.44*** (0.06)	0.44*** (0.06)
in_Eigth step	0.88*** (0.07)	0.88^{***} (0.07)
in_Nineth step	1.24*** (0.10)	1.24*** (0.10)
in_Tenth step	2.17*** (0.13)	2.17*** (0.13)
in_Missing	0.27*** (0.08)	0.27*** (0.08)
ed_Primary	0.33*** (0.06)	0.33*** (0.06)
ed_Secondary	0.40*** (0.05)	0.40*** (0.05)
ed_University	0.34*** (0.06)	0.34*** (0.06)
ed_Missing	0.69*** (0.26)	0.69*** (0.26)
swb_t0	0.14*** (0.04)	0.14*** (0.04)
ANS_inc_pm	0.001 (0.002)	
ANS_exc_pm		0.001 (0.002)
Unemp	-0.04*** (0.002)	-0.04*** (0.002)
Inflation_rate	0.002*** (0.0001)	0.002*** (0.0001)
log(GNI_PPP)	0.37*** (0.02)	0.37*** (0.02)
Observations	21,035	21,035
Log Likelihood	-42,653.07	-42,653.19
Note:		*p**p***p<0.01

Table G4 Group 4 (Wave 4 and 6)

ANS INC PM

able G4 Group 4 (wave 4 and 6)

Dependent variable: life_satisfaction

ANS EXC PM

	(1)	(2)
age	-0.03*** (0.004)	-0.03*** (0.004)
age_squared	0.0003*** (0.0000)	0.0003*** (0.0000)
age_na	-0.27 (0.25)	-0.27 (0.25)
sex_Female	-0.02 (0.02)	-0.02 (0.02)
sex_Missing	-0.24 (0.96)	-0.24 (0.96)
ms_Divorced	-0.32*** (0.05)	-0.32*** (0.05)
ms_Single	-0.26*** (0.05)	-0.26*** (0.05)
ms_Widowed	-0.21*** (0.03)	-0.21*** (0.03)
ms_Missing	-0.25 (0.21)	-0.25 (0.21)
es_Unemployed	-0.04 (0.04)	-0.04 (0.04)
es_Housewife	0.13*** (0.03)	0.13*** (0.03)
es_Student	0.03 (0.04)	0.03 (0.04)
es_Retired	-0.17*** (0.04)	-0.17*** (0.04)
es_Other	-0.04 (0.06)	-0.04 (0.06)
es_Missing	0.26*** (0.05)	0.26*** (0.05)
in_second step	-0.09* (0.05)	-0.09* (0.05)
in_Third step	-0.17*** (0.05)	-0.17*** (0.05)
in_Fourth step	0.04 (0.04)	0.04 (0.04)
in_Fifth step	0.23*** (0.04)	0.23*** (0.04)
in_Sixth step	0.39*** (0.04)	0.39*** (0.04)
in_Seventh step	0.66*** (0.05)	0.66*** (0.05)
in_Eigth step	1.01*** (0.05)	1.01*** (0.05)
in_Nineth step	1.38*** (0.08)	1.38*** (0.08)
in_Tenth step	2.13*** (0.09)	2.13*** (0.09)
in_Missing	0.46*** (0.06)	0.46*** (0.06)
ed_Primary	0.35*** (0.04)	0.35*** (0.04)
ed_Secondary	0.42*** (0.04)	0.42*** (0.04)
ed_University	0.45*** (0.04)	0.45*** (0.04)
ed_Missing	0.49*** (0.16)	0.50*** (0.16)
swb_t0	0.37*** (0.01)	0.37*** (0.01)
ANS_inc_pm	-0.01*** (0.001)	
ANS_exc_pm		-0.01*** (0.001)
Unemp	-0.01*** (0.002)	-0.01*** (0.002)
Inflation_rate	0.01*** (0.001)	0.01*** (0.001)
log(GNI_PPP)	-0.04*** (0.01)	-0.04*** (0.01)
Observations	36,316	36,316
Log Likelihood	-74,125.48	-74,126.72

Recent Motu Working Papers

All papers in the Motu Working Paper Series are available on our website www.motu.nz, or by contacting us on info@motu.org.nz or +64 4 939 4250.

- 18-05 Clay, K Chad, Ryan Bakker, Anne-Marie Brook, Daniel W Hill Jr and Amanda Murdie. 2018. "HRMI Civil and Political Rights Metrics: 2018 Technical Note."
- 18-04 Apatov, Eyal, Nathan Chappell and Arthur Grimes. 2018. "Is internet on the right track? The digital divide, path dependence, and the rollout of New Zealand's ultra-fast broadband." (forthcoming)
- 18-03 Sin, Isabelle, Eyal Apatov and David C Maré. 2018. "How did removing student allowances for postgraduate study affect students' choices?"
- 18-02 Jaffe, Adam B and Nathan Chappell. 2018. "Worker flows, entry, and productivity in New Zealand's construction industry."
- 18-01 Harris, Richard and Trinh Le. 2018. "Absorptive capacity in New Zealand firms: Measurement and importance."
- 17-15 Sin, Isabelle, Steven Stillman and Richard Fabling. 2017. "What drives the gender wage gap? Examining the roles of sorting, productivity differences, and discrimination."
- 17-14 MacCulloch, Robert. 2017. "Political systems, social welfare policies, income security and unemployment."
- 17-13 Fleming, David A., Arthur Grimes, Laurent Lebreton, David C Maré and Peter Nunns. 2017. "Valuing sunshine."
- 17-12 Hyslop, Dean and Wilbur Townsend. 2017. "The longer term impacts of job displacement on labour market outcomes."
- 17-11 Carver, Thomas, Patrick Dawson and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Including forestry in an Emissions Trading Scheme: Lessons from New Zealand."
- 17-10 Daigneault, Adam, Sandy Elliott, Suzie Greenhalgh, Suzi Kerr, Edmund Lou, Leah Murphy, Levente Timar and Sanjay Wadhwa. 2017. "Modelling the potential impact of New Zealand's freshwater reforms on land-based Greenhouse Gas emissions"
- 17-09 Coleman, Andrew. 2017. "Housing, the 'Great Income Tax Experiment', and the intergenerational consequences of the lease"
- 17-08 Preston, Kate and Arthur Grimes. 2017. "Migration and Gender: Who Gains and in Which Ways?"
- 17-07 Grimes, Arthur, Judd Ormsby and Kate Preston. 2017. "Wages, Wellbeing and Location: Slaving Away in Sydney or Cruising on the Gold Coast."
- 17-06 Leining, Catherine, Judd Ormsby and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Evolution of the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme: Linking."
- 17-05 Leining, Catherine, Corey Allan and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Evolution of the NZ ETS: Sectoral Coverage and Points of Obligation."
- 17-04 Maré, David C., Trinh Le, Richard Fabling and Nathan Chappell. 2017. "Productivity and the Allocation of Skills."
- 17-03 Grimes, Arthur and Wilbur Townsend. 2017. "The Effect of Fibre Broadband on Student Learning."
- 17-02 Alimi, Omoniyi, David C Maré and Jacques Poot. 2017. "More pensioners, less income inequality?"
- 17-01 Carver, Thomas and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Facilitating Carbon Offsets from Native Forests."
- 16-22 Fabling, Richard, and Arthur Grimes. 2016. "Picking Up Speed: Does Ultrafast Broadband Increase Firm Productivity?"
- 16-21 Maré, David C. 2016. "Urban Productivity Estimation with Heterogeneous Prices and Labour."

